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Wednesday, January 15, 2025
--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Today, the Ontario Energy Board is conducting a transcribed oral hearing on an application filed November 7, 2024, by NQS Generation Group.  The application is requesting that the OEB review a set of amendments to the Market Rules made by the Independent Electricity System Operator, commonly referred to as IESO for the benefit of the court reporter.  These Market Rules are MR-00481-R000 to -R013.  The application requests that the OEB revoke the amendments and refer them back to the IESO for further consideration.  The OEB has assigned file number EB-2024-0331 to this proceeding.

The OEB issued a decision and Procedural Order No. 2 on December 2, 2024, which made provision for a hybrid oral hearing from January 15 to January 17, 2025.

My name is Bob Dodds, and I will be presiding over this hearing.  Joining with me are Commissioners Patrick Moran and Anthony Zlahtic.  We will start with the land acknowledgement, which will be conducted by Ms. Ing.
Land Acknowledgement

MS. ING:  Good morning.  I wish to acknowledge this land on with the Ontario Energy Board operates.  For thousands of years it has been the traditional land of the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples, and it is covered by treaties made with the Crown, in the spirit of peace, friendship, and respect.  Today, the land is still home to many Indigenous Peoples from across Turtle Island.  The OEB is committed to building relationships with Indigenous Peoples and communities based on mutual respect and shared values.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you, Ms. Ing.  We will now start with appearances, starting with the Applicant, and invite Mr. Vellone to introduce himself and his witnesses.  Then, the OEB counsel and then IESO counsel and the witnesses will follow by intervenors and the OEB counsel and Staff.  The Panel knows that this is the reverse from the normal, but we did address that in Procedural Order No. 4, that we will have the Applicant appear first, although the first witnesses will be IESO.

It is the Panel's understanding that a schedule today was created by OEB Staff and circulated to the parties for their input.  The Panel will use this schedule to guide today's hearing.  Adjustments to the schedule may be made during the hearing as circumstances require or allow it.  Now, we will go on with some technical matters.
Procedural Matters

As this is a hybrid oral hearing and some parties are participating remotely, parties are reminded that, during their scheduled speaking time, they may experience loss of the Internet connection or suffer poor audio quality, in which cases the hearing will be paused and the court reporter will be directed to stop transcribing the proceeding.  The affected party will have five minutes to rectify the problem.  In the event that the matter cannot be resolved quickly, the OEB Panel will make a determination on whether to adopt or adjust the schedule and continue or adjourn the hearing.

As the Panel communicated to the parties at the technical conference, we would like parties to avoid the use of acronyms, and I've already advised you on that matter.

Now, we will go to preliminary matters.
Preliminary Matters

The Panel wishes to address a couple of preliminary matters which were addressed in the OEB decision, Procedural Order No. 4, which you received late last night, issued on the day before, January 14th, 2025.

Firstly, with respect to the qualification of the expert witnesses from Power Advisory on behalf of the Applicant NQS Generation Group, as indicated in Decision and Procedural Order No. 4, the Panel is dispensing with the process that parties would typically conduct in order to have a witness qualified as an expert.  As the decision noted, there was extensive questioning at the technical conference on the Power Advisory witnesses' qualifications.  As the decision indicates, the OEB has accepted the Power Advisory witnesses as experts on the subject areas of energy markets and wholesale market design.  The Panel will not be assisted with a repeat of that exercise and wishes to proceed directly with the examination of the witnesses.

That said, in Decision and Procedural Order No. 4, the OEB directed that the IESO should present as evidence and witnesses first allow, followed by cross-examination of the IESO witnesses by other parties.  The OEB believes that this order of evidence will provide the necessary context for the MRP Market Rules planned amendments.  The IESO evidence and examination will be followed by NQS Generation Group's evidence in support of its contention that the amendments result in unjust discrimination against the NQS Generation Group or quick non-start generation resources in general.

In our Decision and Procedural Order No. 4, we also addressed the motion by NQS Generation Group for information from IESO with respect to certain questions that the IESO refused to answer at the technical conference or in the undertakings.  The OEB Decision and Procedural Order No. 4 addresses all of those requests, with the exception of information in what is intended or identified as Undertaking Refusal JT1.1, in which the OEB stated in Decision and Procedural Order No. 4 that the OEB will expect to be addressed at the beginning of the oral hearing.

In response to the questions raised at the technical conference, the OEB will not require oral argument at this hearing.  This was clarified at the technical conference.  We're just repeating it again here.  Provision has been made for written arguments after the oral hearing, as set out in the schedule for filing of written arguments.

Are there any other preliminary matters?  Legal?  That said, we want to start with the matter of JT1.1.  That's with respect to the business case put forward by IESO.  We're asking that each of you limit it to 10 minutes and to address first with NQS why you want to have that issue resolved or undertaken.  Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps we should complete the appearances first?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll do that.
Appearances

MR. VELLONE:  My name is John Vellone, and I am counsel to the NQS Generation Group.  With me this morning is Mr. Colm Boyle, partner and representative of the NQS Generation Group.  I do have two members of the generators here with me this morning, Mr. Brandon Kelly and Ms. Noralyn Vasquez.  And seated in the public gallery because we don't expect them to be on today are the witnesses from Power Advisory, Mr. Jason Chee-Aloy and Mr. Brady Yauch.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  IESO.

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Commissioners.  My name is Glenn Zacher.  I am counsel for the IESO, and with me are my colleagues, Lesley Mercer and Patrick Duffy.  Also in attendance, Mr. Chair, is James Hunter, senior legal counsel for the IESO, and the IESO's two witnesses who will be presented later this morning, Darren Matsugu, who is the director of markets for the IESO, and Mr. Stephen Nusbaum, who is director of the market renewal program.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Are any of the intervenors inclined to join in on this aspect of the oral hearing?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Good morning.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I will be questioning some of the witnesses through this oral hearing.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  [Audio dropout] appearance on behalf of CCC, or are they online remotely to enter their appearance?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, I am here.  Good morning.  My name is Lawrie Gluck, and I'm a consultant for the Consumers Council of Canada.  Mr. Rubenstein and I have collaborated in our cross-examination for this hearing, and he will be the one asking the questions.  On that basis, I do not plan to attend the entirety of the hearing.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  FirstLight.

MS. GOYAL:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Reena Goyal here for FirstLight.  I am having some technology difficulties with my technology here, but I'll ensure that it gets fixed promptly.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Are there any others?  Legal?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic, and I'm counsel for OEB Staff.  With me are Tracy Garner, Manager of Transmission Policy and Compliance; Freed Akhter, Senior Advisor, Transmission Policy and Compliance; Tobias Hobbins, articling student; and the case manager for this application, Michael Bell, Senior Advisor in Application Policy and Conservation.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  I guess we can proceed, Mr. Vellone.  I would advise people making submissions on this issue, the Panel will -- may by the end or after your submission ask questions.  Please proceed.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I apologize, just I should have mentioned at the outset.  One of the other undertakings that the IESO was required to respond, it's JT1.4.  This is data from NQS generators that currently participate in the day-ahead process based on the incremental energy basis only.  We just wanted to clarify and address some potential practicalities in producing that information.  Happy to address that now or we can address it after submissions on the undertaking that we're dealing with.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I would suggest we address it now.

MR. ZACHER:  My colleague Mr. Duffy is a bit more familiar, is going to touch on that.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  Good morning, Panel members.  We're just looking at 1.4 and we're trying to get a better sense on what data it is that the Panel would find helpful in response to this.  So, I guess the question becomes:  There is a list of generators that are in Appendix B of the undertakings that the IESO provided.  The Panel seems to indicate that that would be helpful.  We're unclear, are you seeking a particular time period and is it simply information about the percentage or are you seeking other data that would be helpful?  This was actually the nub of what the issue was at the technical conference.  We were unclear as to what the resolution of that was.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Do you want to respond to that, Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  The Panel will take it under advisement and respond.

MR. DUFFY:  Maybe if I just add one point to that, just to be clear.  So, the concern here would be that if it's a request for data itself, that would require data from market participants.  And so, the offer data that they've made, depending obviously on the time period, that could be quite voluminousness and would take time to retrieve, analyze and review and come up with the answer.

The other issue with that data, while if we could give answers based on kind of an aggregate basis, the individual data itself is confidential market participant data and the confidentiality filing process here with the Board, while it works well for confidential IESO data, doesn't actually relieve that issue for market participant data.  There is a process under the Market Rules we would have to follow and give notification and they would have a right to come and argue it.  So, obviously, just given the timelines of approval there are just some feasibilities.  So, we want to be helpful to the Board.  We would, you know, we actually don't think there is a particular dispute or much distance between the parties on this issue.  So, it would just be helpful to clarify what it is so that, as I said, as a practical matter we can try to deliver something in the time available.

MR. VELLONE:  To the extent it helps, as the Panel takes this away and deliberates, perhaps I could be crystal clear on what we were trying to elicit when we asked for the undertaking.  We weren't looking for the IESO to produce offer information; rather what we were looking for was data on the number of NQS generators that currently participate in the day-ahead commitment process on an incremental energy offer only basis.  And that was requested in direct response to evidence in the IESO's reply evidence that suggested that NQS generators did not need, or were not obliged, to participate in the market using three-part offers and they could do it only with incremental energy offers.

And so, all we were trying to elicit onto the evidentiary record was:  Is that a theoretical example or realistically how things happen?  Show us today from a numbers point of view, and not limited to our group, I would say.  NQS generators as a whole, not limited to our group.

So, to the extent that's helpful and to the extent that may address some of your concerns, I don't know.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Yeah, no, I think that's helpful and we can certainly address that point.  Again, while we don't want to get caught in having to do an extensive data analysis and production given the time period.  So, you know, if the question is, is it a theoretical possibility, how often does it happen, we can certainly give answers kind of in a range on that, is possible.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a quick question to follow up with you, Mr. Vellone.  So, the decision says number and percentage and I just want to check with you in terms of what your expectation might be in that context.  So, there is a list of generators in Appendix B.  And do you just want a total number that says out of this total list maybe 62 of them, or 20 of them, or eight of them participate in one way versus the other way.  Is that all you're looking for?

MR. VELLONE:  I do not think my request is limited to the list of facilities in Appendix B which represent my client base, but all NQS generators.  If you're calculating a percentage and you say what the denominator is you're dividing by, I think the Panel and everyone could probably figure it out.  So, does that make sense?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  So, essentially you're just looking for a number?  That's basically it?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  And to the extent that there is other NQS generators that are not on that list, you'd like them included in the calculation; is that -- do I understand that correctly?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, correct.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Any follow up?

MR. DUFFY:  We should be able to produce a number.  I guess, time period?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  That was my next question.  Is that just currently or in 2024 or...?

MR. VELLONE:  Let's go back a few years, three, four years.  I'm just trying to get a sense of whether the theoretical approach that IESO witnesses have suggested has ever really been taken up by any of the generators.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Vellone, is that segregated by technology?

MR. VELLONE:  Beyond NQS generators as a technology class, no.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just NQS gas-fired generators.

MR. VELLONE:  Correct, yeah.  Gas, non-nuclear, yeah.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And when you say back a few years are we talking three years, five years?

MR. VELLONE:  Can you do five?

MR. DUFFY:  I will ask.  There are others who actually have to look into this.  We can certainly, I mean, I think this is a discreet point we can certainly, maybe address on a break at some point in time.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Are there any more clarifications with respect to this matter?  Then I think the floor is yours, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Commissioners.  I canvassed this for some time during the technical conference as it relates to undertaking JT1.1, and what I was trying to do is elicit, for the benefit of the commissioners, information and data that would be helpful in your determination of whether or not there are economic harms to the NQS class of customers arising as a result of the Market Renewal Program.  And the challenge that I think we face is you have the benefit of the Power Advisory evidence, you have the benefit of their estimates of around $21 million of harm for a proxy NQS generator, you have their calculations of that harm extrapolated over the group of generators that I represent of $140 million over six years on the one hand.  And then you have the IESO's own benefits and business case for the Market Renewal Plan estimating what are forecasted to be $190 million in benefits arising from the exact same set of changes that we are bringing to you and are concerned about today.

We know that in their responding evidence the IESO has critiqued Power Advisory for going backwards in time, looking at historical data and redoing dispatches.  We also know that is exactly how the IESO calculated their benefits case and their $190 million.  They did largely the same exercise, they reallocated NQS generators based on the inclusion of start-up costs that appears.

The challenge that we have is that we have some high-level descriptions of what the IESO has done, and I took them through that as best I could at the technical conference, and I frankly don't intend to redo it again today.  But what we do not have is a clear and concrete understanding of exactly the steps they took to get to that $190 million.

As an example, a clarification question that I asked during the technical conference was, when you started the exercise and looked at 1,400 historical dispatches, were those only NQS generators?  Or were there other commitments that you were looking at as well?

We now know from the undertaking responses that the sample of universe that they were looking at was only NQS generators directly relevant to our application today.  But we don't have the granularity to understand exactly what they have done, how their assumptions are similar to or different from the assumptions and analysis that Power Advisory has done.  I haven't had a chance to give it to my experts and ask them to comment on the analysis and the assumptions.  And I thought at the end of the day it would be helpful for the Panel to have the benefit of that full analysis in your deliberations.

I am very conscious that to the extent there is offer-data information that is highly confidential and sensitive, that that -- my expectation would be that would be filed pursuant to the OEB's practice direction on confidential filing, that we would sign confidentiality undertakings, as would the experts from Power Advisory, and that the material would be returned or destroyed at the end of this proceeding, consistent with the OEB's practices on confidential materials.

Those are my submissions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Panel?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a couple of questions, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Please.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  The calculation of the number, $190 million in benefits resulting from more efficient dispatch, correct me if I am wrong, but my understanding was that your witnesses were not opining on whether that was the case or not.

Your appeal here isn't to say that, in fact, it isn't going to be more efficient; it is going to be less efficient, if I understand that correctly.

MR. VELLONE:  That's absolutely correct, yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And so I am just wondering, even if we get the analysis that says this is how they developed the $190 million, what difference does that make to the decision that we actually have to make here with respect to unjust discrimination or conflict with the purposes of the act?

MR. VELLONE:  The question for the Panel is whether or not it would be informative or probative when you are considering the various complaints that the IESO witnesses have levied against the Power Advisory analysis in an effort to shake those conclusions, whether you think it would be probative if when you are looking at IESO's own analysis, they made similar assumptions or did similar steps.  So it is really intended to help reconcile some of these challenges that have been levied at the Power Advisory evidence.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Now you say that you don't know what steps the IESO took to determine, but there was some discussion of that in the technical conference.  So you do understand that they limited the historical dispatch data to the NQS generators.

So what other steps from your perspective do you think you need to know to make your case around unjust discrimination and -- or conflict with the purposes of the act?

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is when they redid the dispatch exercise, I would be interested to know what years they looked at historically, and does it map to the same six years Power Advisory looked at, or something different?

At the end of that, they concluded approximately one-sixth of NQS generators were inefficiently dispatched.  So I'm trying to -- and to be candid, Power Advisory's analysis also arrives at a conclusion that, post-market renewal, NQS generators will be dispatched less often, less frequently.  And I am trying to reconcile the numbers Power Advisory has come up, with that one-sixth calculation.

And then they go ahead and they calculate a benefit by using that one-sixth number, apparently multiplying it by the total volume of NQS commitments.  Like did they just -- I don't understand that last step.  Once they got the one-sixth, I don't understand how they got to a benefit calculation exactly.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  I guess we can move here...

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  When you say it will make the proposals, with the amendments coming forward, it will make the market less efficient, is that what you are saying?

MR. VELLONE:  Commissioner Dodds, I have not suggested that the IESO's evidence on efficiency is intended -- is incorrect.  What I am trying to illustrate in this case is that what some people are calling efficiencies are actually just a direct transfer of wealth from my constituency to consumers.  And it is being dressed up as efficiencies, but it is a wealth transfer caused by these rule amendments.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And your objection or your claim or your concern is in the market today?  Like, I have a reason for asking that question, which I am going to ask of IESO later on:  There are 5,000 megawatts of power coming on in the next eight to 10 years, depending how quickly they can do these.  And that market is going to change.  All this is going to change.

So you are looking at a snapshot in time, and it may not exist two, three, four years from now.  And maybe you would be dispatched -- because I think your main concern is not being dispatched as frequently as you were before.  Maybe you will be dispatched more.  Could that not be part of market efficiency?

MR. VELLONE:  I am concerned principally with the differences between the way the market is today and how it will be in the future.  I have some probative questions for the IESO witnesses about some anticipated changes in the future, for example, the idea that new storage is coming online and competes directly with NQS resources.  And we have seen the procurements, contracts are issued, additional rounds of procurements coming out, where it looks to me like the competition in this space is actually going to go up and not necessarily down.

Does that answer your question?  I just want to --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  It does.  And I will raise this in much more detail later on in the proceeding, after your testimony, but I have a number of questions around that, just to let you know in advance, that I do want to question that; I will question of IESO as well.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Mr. Vellone, I just want to confirm, I think what I heard you say and, if I misheard, sorry:  Power Advisory has done analysis, it has backcast for six years, and that's the only number we have on the record.

The IESO has put forward a business case for $190 million, and something I didn't realize till you spoke was that the IESO's analysis was also a backcast.

MR. VELLONE:  It was.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  So the probative value in your view, not to put words in your mouth, is to have a comparison in terms of Power Advisory's analysis versus the IESO's?

MR. VELLONE:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  I think that --


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And the other thing, too:  You know, I was under the misunderstanding that the $190 million calculation was a forward-cast, over 10 years.

MR. VELLONE:  I believe they used their backcast to project into the future over 10 years.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  We can clarify that with the IESO, as well.  Thank you.  That's all.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  IESO.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  So a few objections that we have to the requested information, or at least the breadth of it.  I should add, having listened to my friend, there is some information that may be producible that would assist, so we will address that.

Principally, and Commissioner Moran I think hit on this, is what is the relevance of this information?  It's not relevant.  And my friend hasn't established a foundation for why it's relevant.

Relevance is governed in every case by the pleadings.  So, in this case, the application and the evidence that is filed by the parties in support of the application, so the Power Advisory evidence.

The IESO's business case -- and, Commissioner Zlahtic, the business case is not $190 million; it is a business case for the energy stream of MRP that is larger than that; this is one component of it -- is simply not an issue.  It's not contested.  And, in fact, in three or four places during the technical conference, the Power Advisory witnesses were at pains to extol their support for the IESO business case, that it's not that they don't disagree with it; in fact, that they're in full agreement with the business case, as demonstrated by the IESO with regards to MRP.

I could just give you the references, if you like, but they're at pages 77 to 88, 96 to 97, and I believe it's 157 to 158 in the transcript.

So this is not a matter in issue.

Second, the onus in this sort of a proceeding is on the applicants, and the particular document that my friend requests further analysis in respect of is a business-case validation memo from September 2022 that has been available.  It was not addressed in my friend's evidence.  It could have been addressed in my friend's evidence if they thought it was relevant.  It would have then perhaps merited a response from the IESO.  This is something that was introduced the night before the technical conference.

And this goes to a related point, which is that my friend suggests that his entitlement to ask questions about this stems from the rules relating to technical conferences, which is to review and clarify evidence.  This is not evidence.  It's not part of the record.  It's not part of the matters that are in issue in this case.

The fourth point -- and, Commissioner Zlahtic, this goes more directly to what you said.  The $190 million is one component of the IESO's business case that's referenced in this document that was produced the night before the technical conference.  That addresses the IESO's projected efficiency benefits.

My friend's supposition, unsupported by any foundation, is that there is some correlation between that and $140 million estimate that Power Advisory put together.  My friend did ask some questions along those lines at the technical conference, and the IESO's witness, Mr. Matsugu, said the IESO's calculation of benefits doesn't translate into calculation of impact.

So, even on that basis, there is not a foundation to request this additional information, particularly at this late stage.  And to just add on to that, Mr. Vellone's requested purpose for this is:  So that I can put this -- give this information to my experts and ask them to comment on it.

Well, the time for putting in evidence has come and gone.  There is not an opportunity to do that at this stage.  Again, that's not unfair; that is how the statute works, puts the onus on the applicant to make its case.

This is information that was publicly available.  They could have put it -- they could have pleaded it in their application, and they could have included it in their evidence at the front end; they didn't do that.

The one point, the last point, I would make is that I understand from our clients that the Energy Stream business case that estimated what the benefits of MRP are generally and include the component that my friend is talking about was the subject of a public stakeholder -- it was either a webcast or presentation, I believe, in 2019.  We looked at it this morning.  I don't think the link on the IESO web page is still working because it's old, but we can certainly cure that.

That presentation, along with associated documents, does provide some explanation of how the various benefits were calculated.  Again, I don't know -- I maintain my position that it's not relevant.  I maintain my position that I don't know what would be done with it at this stage, when the hearing is already started.  But that is certainly something that we can produce and we can produce in a prompt manner.

Those are my submissions, thank you, subject to any questions you may have.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Moran?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  No.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  That report you're referring to from the stakeholders’ meeting that started in 2019?

MR. ZACHER:  Commissioner, Mr. Chair, so the IESO did a business case.  It was updated at various times.  One of those updates was in 2019, and so, at that point, the business case was presented publicly to stakeholders.  Sitting here today, I can't say how that was done.  I believe it was remotely.  But, in any event, there is a recorded telecast of that presentation together with documents that were, I believe, a PowerPoint presentation that was walked through with stakeholders, and that's all available.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And you're saying that the data that NQS is seeking is in there or should be in there to suffice their concerns, in that business plan that came out from that stakeholder meeting?  I just want to be clear that you're saying it's in a format that's public right now.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, yes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And you're saying that it should contain the information that NQS is seeking?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, they're -- yes.  So, as my colleague Mr. Duffy reminds, I gather it goes through and explains how the various benefit components of the business case were calculated.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And those benefits include that statement, that the overall system gave a certain amount of money that NQS was worried about.  Was NQS part of those stakeholder meetings, or any members of their group?

MR. ZACHER:  If they weren't, they certainly could have been.  Mr. Chair, this would have been part of the broad stakeholdering process associated with the development of the MRP Market Rules amendments.  We'll probably get into this later, but there was initially a high-level design stage, and then that evolved to a detailed design stage, and then, ultimately, that fed into the documentation of the design changes in the form of Market Rules, market manuals, and other documents.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you.

Commissioners, any more questions?

Are any intervenors -- Mr. Rubenstein, did you say you were going to intervene or comment on this aspect?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I was referring to the broader hearing, but no.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  I guess that concludes this section of it, and we'll move on to the next stages of the meeting, which I'll just -- as I say, we'll now move on to the next stage of the proceedings, starting with IESO's evidence and examination-in-chief of its witnesses.

Mr. Zacher, I think we need to swear you in, do we not?

MR. ZACHER:  I hope I'm not going to be sworn in, but our witnesses will have to be sworn in, Mr. Matsugu and Mr. Nusbaum, if they can come up.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Could I ask you to state your full name for the record, please.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Good morning, I'm Stephen Nusbaum.

MR. MATSUGU:  Good morning.  My name is Darren Matsugu.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  You're about to give evidence in this hearing.  The Panel is dependent upon you telling us the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, we are going to ask you two questions.  Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, Mr. Matsugu.

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Nusbaum?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I do.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. NUSBAUM:  I do.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, you may proceed.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Chair.  I might just make a couple of preliminary remarks before our witnesses proceed.  As you had pointed out in your opening comments, we appreciate that the sequencing of this proceeding is a little unconventional in the sense that even though the IESO is not the applicant, it was asked to put in some Market Rule descriptive evidence first and to present its evidence first before the applicants, and my understanding is that was in part to assist the Panel in understanding some of the basic foundations with regard to the current Market Rules and how things will change going forward.  And so, if our assumption in that is correct, what we have proposed here again is I think a little unconventional with respect to the Board's practices, which is a slightly longer examination-in-chief, in the hopes that we could lead Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu through some of the basic evidence, have them simply summarize, instill what are the key points in it, frame at a high level what we understand to be the principal areas of disagreement, IESO's reasons for that disagreement, and that that will serve the Board's purposes, the Panel's purposes, in helping to understand things.

And I would also add that, of course, the Board is able to control its processes as it deems appropriate, but we would invite interruptions and questions as we're asking these witnesses questions -- as we're questioning these witnesses if it would be of assistance to the Panel in understanding things, because we appreciate that the subject matter is technical and dense.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And the interruptions would include all the intervenors as well as the Panel?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, again, it's for your discretion.  What I would have thought is that we could ask questions if the Panel needs -- wants to ask questions for purposes of basic understanding, they can do that.  And, of course, after we complete our questioning, then Mr. Vellone and all the intervenors will have a full opportunity to undertake their cross-examination, including asking clarifying questions if they want to --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  No, I just want to clarify that when you said "invite questions" --


MR. ZACHER:  No, I think that would probably be a little bit unruly.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  A little bit unruly,  thank you.
INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR - PANEL 1
Stephen Nusbaum,

Darren Matsugu; Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Zacher

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Mr. Matsugu and Mr. Nusbaum.  I would like to just first go through some of your professional backgrounds, and I know your CVs are filed so we're going to just pull those up on the screen as necessary.  Mr. Matsugu, I'll start with you if that's okay.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Zacher, I don't think we need that.  Was this not done as part of the technical conference, describing their backgrounds?

MR. ZACHER:  There was some limited -- I would -- Mr. Chair, in light of the Board's direction from last evening, I would be comforted by leading the witnesses through the pertinent parts of their background, at least at a fairly high level, and I think I can do that for both of them in no less than, you know, 5 or 10 minutes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Matsugu, I understand you're the IESO's director of markets and you've held that position since 2023?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And you're responsible in that capacity for overseeing the evolution of Ontario's wholesale electricity market, often called the IESO-administered markets?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you were part of the IESO senior management team and you oversee and provide direction to a team of IESO employees and analysts that analyze market data, market outcomes, identify deficiencies in the market and recommend improvements to market design?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And so, one of those proposed improvements would be the Market Renewal Project?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you've been employed at the IESO for over 15 years since 2008?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And over that entire period of time you have worked in and held responsibilities relating to wholesale design and operations?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And you started in 2008 as a senior analyst in market evolution and analysis and research?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  You were elevated to supervisor analysis and market rules in 2013 and you held that position for several years?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And in 2017 notably you were made the senior manager market design and integration for the Market Renewal Project?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And that was a position that you were employed in for four or five years?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And you were the senior manager that led the foundational overhaul of the future IESO market through the initial high-level design stage for the single-schedule market, the day-ahead market and the enhanced real-time unit commitment process?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, that's correct.  I led the market design efforts and the stakeholdering associated with that.

MR. ZACHER:  That's what I was going to say.  So, subsequently the stakeholdering with industry groups, market participants, agencies, including the OEB, that ultimately filtered into the proposed Market Rules?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you are also currently the IESO's representative on the North American ISO/RTO Markets Committee; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  It's the ISO Council Markets Committee, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And lastly, you're a chartered financial analyst and you have degrees in economics and honours economics from McGill and Laurier universities?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  All right.  And, Mr. Matsugu, did you participate in the preparation, or have oversight of, the preparation of the IESO's evidence in this case?  So that's the IESO market rule descriptive evidence and the IESO's responding evidence to the Power Advisory expert report.

MR. MATSUGU:  I did.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And do you have any corrections or changes to make to that evidence?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do not.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Nusbaum, if I could turn to you.  You are the director of the Market Renewal Program implementation for the IESO?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And together with Mr. Matsugu, you are the IESO's two principal directors responsible for wholesale market design and operation and for MRP implementation?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And in your current position, you lead the IESO's MRP implementation activities?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  You direct a team of subject matter experts to ensure that the design of the renewed market is accurately codified in the applicable rules, market manuals and other governing documents and is supported by the necessary tools, systems, and processes to deliver the project?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you were also responsible for leading extensive consultation in collaboration with both internal and external stakeholders to advance the MRP amendments through the rule amendment process, that is, through the technical panel and ultimately to the IESO board of directors?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I was.

MR. ZACHER:  And that culminated in unanimous approval from both the technical panel and the IESO board?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it did.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Zacher, could I just ask a clarification question?  This just leads to some of the questions that will be coming up later.

Mr. Nusbaum, have you been involved in the design and implementation of the current Market Rules?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Not broadly.  The current Market Rules have been in existence since market opening and evolved over time.  Most of my experience is relevant today as related to the renewed side of the Market Rules for MRP.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  So you weren't involved in any of the evolutions between start and the proposed go-live date of May of this year?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  And, Mr. Nusbaum, you've also been at the IESO or its predecessor, the OPA, since 2009; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you held position as manager of clean energy procurement for the OPA in 2011 to 2017?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And in 2017 you were made senior manager responsible for development of the IESO's new capacity auction market mechanism?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I was.

MR. ZACHER:  And so, that was a change whereby the IESO sought to, through the market, to incentivize investment and procurement in new capacity resources or existing capacity resources?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you held that role for three years until 2020?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And you are a chemical engineer.  You graduated from Waterloo University and you also hold an MBA from York?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Did you also participate in the preparation and oversight of the IESO's evidence in this case?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And do you have any changes or corrections to make?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, I do not.

MR. ZACHER:  And do you adopt the IESO's written evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu, I would like to ask you for purposes of assisting the Panel to first summarize at a high level some of the important elements of the IESO's current market and the proposed renewed market under MRP.  And this is principally addressed in the IESO's descriptive evidence.

And then, second, I would like to come back and ask you to summarize and explain to the Panel some of the key disagreements between the parties in this case and to explain in simple terms the IESO's position.  Okay?

So if we could start with the descriptive evidence:  Mr. Nusbaum, could you provide an overview of the principal design features of MRP and the purpose of these design changes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I can.  At its highest level, MRP is about enhancing the efficiency of the IESO-administered markets and have those deliver on their core objective of ensuring cost-effective, reliable scheduling of dispatch to meet system needs.  And MRP is looking to do that through three key initiatives.

So the first is a move to a single-schedule market.  Today, prices are established without regard to the physical limitations of the transmission system.  So this creates differences between how resources are scheduled and how they are paid.  That results in significant extra market payments, generally referred to as CMSC.

And so, with a single-schedule market and the move to locational marginal pricing, we will avoid the majority of those CMSC payments and we will ensure the value of energy at every injection withdrawal point on the grid is accurately priced by aligning the price with the underlying system conditions, leading to better operational and investment decisions.

Secondly, we will also be introducing a financially binding day-ahead market.  So, in that day-ahead market, the IESO will look to secure the majority of capacity, or to commit the majority of supply to meet the next day's needs, providing greater operational certainty for the IESO and increased financial certainty for market participants.

And third, we will enhance our pre-dispatch unit commitment process through an initiative known as the enhanced real-time unit commitment, or what we generally refer to as ERUC, E-R-U-C.

While our current PD process only optimizes a single hour at a time, under MRP, we will ensure resources providing energy and OR are optimized over a longer period of time to produce more efficient outcomes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And just to avoid the acronyms, PD is...?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry, I will try better.  PD is pre-dispatch.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And, yes, I believe I also referenced "OR."  That should be operating reserve.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And, Mr. Nusbaum, you understand that the applicants in this case are challenging the full suite of Market Rule amendments necessary to enable the market renewal project.

But is it your understanding that their complaints focus on specific components that you just referred to?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  It would appear that the majority of the focus of the concern is on that enhanced real-time unit commitment, or those changes to pre-dispatch, and the claim that that will result in reduced commitments and associated financial impacts.

There was also an express claim that they will be financially impacted by the market power mitigation framework that is being introduced as part of MRP as well.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Before delving further into the current rules and how things will change going forward, the applicants frame their complaints as NQS resources; that is, that they are being particularly impacted as NQS resources or non-quick start resources.

Could you just explain at a high level what NQS resources are, how they differ from other supply resources in the IESO market and how their operational cost differences, if any, are treated in the market?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  I will try to be better around avoiding acronyms.  But NQS resources are what stands for non-quick start.  And, for the purpose of today, that generally means combined cycle gas plants.  So these types of resources have unique operational characteristics and, as their name implies with the non-quick start, they cannot simply turn on and off quickly, to start injecting or stop injecting energy to meet system needs.

They have relatively long start-up times, and we are talking in the one- to six-hour range, in most cases.  And, once running, they must continue to run at at least a significant portion of their physical capability, and that is what we refer to as MLP or minimum loading point.  And they must also continue to run for a certain period of time; that minimum runtime, you will see it referred to as MGBRT, or minimum generation block runtime, or we will generally refer to just as minimum runtime.

And combined, those two things, the minimum loading point and the minimum runtime, are required because of the physical characteristics of their equipment.  Once they start up, they need to continue to run for a minimum period of time or they would risk damaging their equipment.

And so taken together, these characteristics mean that every time they make the decision to start up, they incur significant costs, and those costs are generally in, you know, the tens-of-thousands-of-dollar range for every start.  And unless these resources can be relatively confident that when they start they will recoup those costs in the market, there is a risk that when they are called on to respond to system needs, they may not choose to start if they can't be confident that they will recover those costs.

And, in the Ontario context specifically, I think that concern is amplified by the fact that we are often dispatching those resources to meet peak system needs, those few hours of the day when we have high demand in the province.  And that response, or using those resources to meet those few hours, doesn't always align with their operational characteristics, that minimum runtime, but they need to stay online.  So after that peak has passed, they may need to stay on and continue to operate at a loss.

And so when the market first opened, there was no mechanism to address this concern or this potential mismatch.  And the NQS resources identified this as a concern and came to the IESO flagging this issue.  And the IESO worked with that group to establish a mechanism that would help derisk that start-up decision for these NQS resources.

And this was accomplished by creating a program that provides NQS resources the ability to recover certain costs to the extent those costs are not recovered through market revenues, and that is accomplished via what we generally refer to as a Generator Cost Guarantee payment.  In return for that payment, the IESO received that greater certainty that that resource will respond when required.


MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And maybe you could just by way of example explain how NQS generators with their unique operational parameters and cost profiles that you referred to, how do they offer into the market and how are they committed and scheduled in the market differently than other resources that don't have these same operational parameters and costs?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So I think the first point to get clarity on is probably what it means to be committed.  And how NQS resources go about receiving a commitment varies between day-ahead and the PD time frames.  But the approach in both is to provide what is known as a commitment.  And that commitment has two parts.  And so, as we have spoken about, there is a physical portion that needs to be there that -- a commitment, that when they come online, the IESO will continue to allow them to run, continue to dispatch them to at least their minimum loading point and for at least their minimum runtime.

There is also a financial portion of that commitment that says if you come online and respond to the dispatch and you are not able to recover from the market all of the costs associated with coming online to at least your minimum loading point and for at least your minimum runtime, the IESO will provide a payment to return them to a profit-neutral position if they cannot recover those costs from the market.  And again, it is that payment that is known as the Generator Cost Guarantee payment.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Other generation resources in the IESO market, are they also entitled to commitments and associated cost guarantees?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, they are not.  This is only available to non-quick start resources.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So now, if we could turn to...

Perhaps you could again explain at sort of a conceptually high level how NQS resources are currently committed and scheduled, and perhaps you could address it, Mr. Nusbaum, in the various time frames -- so you talked about day-ahead and pre-dispatch, and then I guess there is real-time -- and explain to the Panel what the current flaws or deficiencies are in that process that you're looking to rectify through the Market Renewal Program.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, so maybe just to quickly clarify for everyone's understanding, day-ahead versus pre-dispatch, what we mean.

So day-ahead is providing a static, single view of what the next day's supply and scheduling is expected to look like.  And we provide commitments coming out of that day-ahead process, that one-time snapshot view of our expectation.

As we move from that snapshot into the actual dispatch hour and into real-time, obviously, system conditions can change.  Demand can come in higher or lower.  Resources may not be available, or new supply may become available.  So we will look at that during that pre-dispatch time frame and continue to update that view of what we expect to happen, leading right up to that time point.

And so, in both pre-dispatch and in the day-ahead, commitments can be provided.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And so can resources that have received commitments or schedules in the day-ahead time frame then augment those in the pre-dispatch period, to the extent that conditions change?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So I just want to make it very clear.  A commitment received day-ahead is locked in; it is not at risk of going away in pre-dispatch, but there is the ability to add onto it, to produce -- to be scheduled further above your minimum loading point or beyond your minimum runtime.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if you could -- I interrupted you.

MR. NUSBAUM:  So how this works I think was the question, of what's the process by which they actually participate in the market and what are some of the challenges with that.

So I will start with the day-ahead process, what we refer to as our "day-ahead commitment process."  NQS resources can reflect their unique operational characteristics through what we would call "three-part offers" when participating day-ahead.  And those three-part offers reflect their start-up costs, their speed-no-load costs, and their incremental energy costs.  So those three-part offers, taken together with what we know about the physical parameters -- again, that minimum loading point and that minimum run time -- allows our dispatch engine to look at what is the most efficient set of resources to meet demand in the next day, considering all of the costs and all of the available supply resources that are participating day-ahead.

Again, this process optimizes across all hours of the day.  It's not looking at each individual statically.  It's optimizing big picture, knowing what we know about all of the costs and all of the supply available, what is the most efficient expected dispatch for that next day.  And coming out of that process are those binding commitments for these NQS resources.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to stop you there, so it is looking at all of the costs.  Is it also looking at those specific operational parameters or constraints that are unique to NQS, so their minimum load point and their minimum run times are also factored in and optimized?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. NUSBAUM:  So that was the day-ahead.  In our current pre-dispatch process, however, there is a different optimization that's being carried out.  And so that optimization is only happening for each hour of the day, individually, without considering all of the costs that the system will occur when an NQS resource is selected to meet system needs in an individual hour, and that selection is based only on their energy offer, not considering all of the costs.

MR. ZACHER:  By that, do you mean the speed-no-load costs and the ramp costs, the start-up costs, those are not included?

MR. NUSBAUM:  As well as the costs of recognizing that they may continue to need to be online and receiving payments if they do not earn sufficient revenue for the duration of their minimum run time and to their minimum load point.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And so this single-hour optimization, without considering holistically all of the costs of these resources coming online, can lead to inefficient commitment decisions.  What I mean by that is that we can at times be selecting what just on an energy-only basis looks like a lower-cost resource, but, in terms of total costs at the end of the day to ratepayers, there would have been potentially a lower cost NQS resource that might have had slightly higher energy costs but lower overall costs when considering their start-up costs and their minimum run time.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Sorry.  You anticipated my question.  I'm just trying to understand something.  So, in today's market, an NQS generator basically gets told pre-dispatch:  Get ready, warm up, and get ready to generate electricity.

And they make a three-part offer to get that scheduling commitment from the IESO.  But this is today's market.  So, once we're in real-time, they submit just energy offers.

[Witness panel confers]


COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And it's an hour-ahead commitment?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So a couple points maybe to help clarify:  In the day-ahead commitment process, they are submitting three-part offers.  In the pre-dispatch process, they are not submitting three-part offers; those costs still exist, and the way those are reflected is through pre-approved costs.

So, if they do get picked up and they get committed, the way we calculate that guarantee payment is on the basis of these pre-approved costs, recognizing that they have not actually submitted three-part offers.  So I just wanted to first clarify that point.  Is that --


COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  You probably answered the question, but I didn't understand.  Let me ask again.

So, in today's market, they get a commitment.  They do submit a three-part offer?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Only in the day-ahead time frame, not in pre-dispatch.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Once we get into real-time, they're only submitting energy offers; right?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And then the changes with implementation of MRP, once we're in the real-time market
-- let's say they've got the day-ahead commitment, okay, so they're up, they're warmed up, they're ready to generate, and now they're still submitting three-part offers, notwithstanding the fact that they've already got a commitment for their start-up costs.

So what I'm not following is:  Those start-up costs are kind of sunk costs, so why would they have to submit a three-part offer and not continue to offer just an energy offer?  You have made that commitment.  They have got that commitment to get paid that amount whether they get dispatched or not in the real-time, and yet now they have to submit a three-part offer.  It sounds like double counting to me.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, Commissioner, in the event that they get a schedule in the day-ahead, then they would get a commitment from that day-ahead, so, in fact, we wouldn't be doing anything by replacing their commitment.

The reason why we need to continue to get offers associated with it is that the system conditions may change and we may change when we want that commitment as a result of changing system conditions, but they will continue to get that start.  So, in a way, I suppose it's not necessary for them to continue to submit that start-up cost because, as you said, it's already sunk and we've already made the commitment for it.  But we ask them to maintain what those offers are.

If in the event that they don't get a commitment, though, so they're not getting a commitment in day-ahead, obviously we would need that information to be able to make the decision of whether or not we need those resources.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  No, but I mean my question was they got the day-ahead commitment --


MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  -- and they're in the real-time market, so those costs are already on the books so to speak and the IESO has committed to paying the generator those start-up costs based on their three-part offer.  And obviously, as part of the day-ahead commitment, their energy offer that's part of that three-part offer is acceptable to the IESO; right?  And this is -- and I apologize if there is a mental block on my end.  It just doesn't make sense to me that they have to submit a three-part offer in the real-time market and why they wouldn't just make an energy offer.

MR. MATSUGU:  Oh, I understand.  So, again, from -- if they got a day-ahead commitment, essentially that start-up cost no longer is relevant because the optimization knows that that resource has started, and so it -- while there is an offer in there, it knows that that resource is already started, so it doesn't need to then say, well, there's -- it's going to take into -- an incremental additional start-up costs.  That's already been reflected in the day-ahead selection port, so it knows it wouldn't trigger a start-up cost.  So that doesn't impact the selection when it comes to that day-at-hand in the real-time optimization.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  So, what are you saying though?  In the real-time market because they've got the day-ahead commitment, their three-part offer would really be zero, zero, and their energy offer, would it not?

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  Because the way that that handoff between -- and Mr. Nusbaum can probably speak a little bit more to it -- essentially that handoff from the day-ahead market into pre-dispatch and running into real-time, it basically gives it a constraint and says, well, we made a commitment in day-ahead so you have to take it.  So therefore, it -- there's no economic selection of are you going to commit that resource or not.  It's coming and so therefore the start-up cost no longer gets considered because it's pass-through and saying you have to take that commitment.  So that start-up cost doesn't enter into a change in the scheduling when it comes into the day at hand.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  You know what would be really helpful, and this shouldn't be a lot of work, is a numerical example of an NQS generator in today's market and post-MRP just for one day; is that doable?

MR. ZACHER:  I can't answer that.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I used to know how to do it.

MR. ZACHER:  I'm going to -- so, at a break, we'll take that offline and we'll respond, but I think that there's going to be a way to do something that will be helpful, yes.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's mark that as our first undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING J1.1:  IESO TO PROVIDE A NUMERICAL EXAMPLE OF AN NQS GENERATOR IN TODAY’S MARKET AND POST-MRP, FOR ONE DAY


MR. NUSBAUM:  And at the risk of adding more when the issue may have been clarified.  I just wanted to maybe add just one point to what my colleague said.  Yes, as we move in a pre-dispatch, the hours of that commitment are known and locked into the optimization algorithm and we're essentially looking at do we want to raise the quantity of megawatts they are dispatched for within that.  But there is also the possibility, and one of the reasons why we still need the three-part offer, is there is a possibility that they could have two starts in one day, and if those starts are relatively close in time, the optimization can say do I want to incur the cost of starting them twice or should I just keep them on in between?  So there is a reason for that practically with how the optimization algorithm works.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  My nod was "that was helpful."  Thank you.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So just to clarify.  So, Mr. Nusbaum, in the current day-ahead process, which is the day-ahead commitment process, you said NQS generators competitively offer in three-part offers; right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And I think you said in the pre-dispatch process, to the extent there, things have changed and they're looking to augment commitments that have been established in DACP, or in the Day-Ahead Commitment Process, in pre-dispatch they're simply offering in energy costs; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And am I right that the fact that the IESO cannot presently co-optimize NQS generators' total costs, so energy costs, start-up costs, speed-no-load costs, plus their operational constraints, minimum loading point, minimum run time, in pre-dispatch, that is, in a nutshell, the limitation that -- the limitation or the flaw in the design that the IESO is attempting to fix; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.  That is the focus of that enhanced real-time unit part of the project.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And I think when we left off, you were explaining in sort of practical terms or by way of example how those limitations can result in inefficiencies.  And perhaps you could just pick up on that again?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's right.  I was suggesting that because that optimization as, again, only looking at a single hour at a time and not considering all of the costs that will be incurred associated with making that scheduling decision, it can result in inefficient commitments and schedules, that's correct.

I would also add that that is part of what we are looking to address, that inefficient scheduling, by bringing that same approach we're using day-ahead into real-time where they will offer in three-part offers and we will optimize across all remaining hours of the day.  But there is also another related challenge with the current way we are scheduling and committing resources in pre-dispatch and then providing that GCG payment, Generator Cost Guarantee payment, excuse me.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  But just in a nutshell, is the purpose of or one of the central purposes of the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment to take the competitive bidding or competitive offering of NQS generators in respect of all other costs that exist day-ahead and to continue that through the pre-dispatch process?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And, likewise, to extend the consideration of all of the relevant operational constraints and parameters, minimum loading point, minimum run time that's considered day-ahead and to, likewise, in the new market, have all of those constraints considered as part of commitment, scheduling, optimization in the pre-dispatch timeframe?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct, that's right.

MR. ZACHER:  Will the changes that are being effected by the MRP amendments, in particular Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment, will that alter the cost guarantees that NQS generators receive today?  In other words, as I understand it today, in exchange for having their units committed, they're guaranteed that they will recover all of their costs, to the extent that those costs are not earned through market revenues that are associated with that commitment; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Going forward will that treatment be the same?  In other words, in exchange for a commitment, will NQS generators continue to receive a guarantee for all of their costs, start-up costs, speed-no-load costs, energy costs, up to MLP for their minimum run time to the extent that those revenues are not recovered through market revenues associated with that commitment?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  The general principle and approach of the commitments is not changing.  We will continue to ensure they are able to be returned to a cost-neutral position if they are not able to earn sufficient revenue through the market.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And the new cost guarantee program is called what?

MR. NUSBAUM:  We refer to it as a generator offer guarantee, or GOG.

MR. ZACHER:  Is there any change to how the way in which the cost guarantee, going forward, the calculation of it will change?  In other words, are all of the same market revenues that are associated with a commitment that are currently applied to offset costs, will that continue going forward?  Or will there be any change?

MR. NUSBAUM:  There will be a change.  In the current market, the guarantee payment provided does not take into account or consider all of the revenues that that commitment is enabling that resource to earn.  So currently, revenue earned above their minimum loading point, beyond their minimum runtime as well as that operating reserve revenue, is not deducted from the guarantee costs.

And this approach, the current approach, has been flagged on multiple occasions by the Market Surveillance Panel, by the Auditor General, as being inefficient and resulting in payments that exceed what is required to return an NQS generator to being in a revenue-neutral position.

And, really, the principle that, you know, kind of at play here is that ratepayers are taking back the risk of that start-up decision; they are taking back all the potential downside risk.  And the generator would not have been online but for -- and able to earn those revenues, but for the fact that that commitment has been derisked for them.

And so before ratepayers should have to provide a payment for those start-up costs, it is appropriate that all revenues earned during the time when the generator was online should be accounted for when determining the quantum of that generator cost payment.

And that is what in the renewed market we will be looking to do; the basis on which resources will receive a commitment in pre-dispatch will be based on a full accounting of all of the benefits they are scheduled to provide the system and all of the associated costs.

And, as such, when calculating the quantum of the payment needed to return a generator to a cost-neutral position, all the revenue that is earned during the course of the start will be accounted for in a manner that is consistent with the underlying basis for which the original commitment decision was made.

MR. ZACHER:  So just to break that down:  Going forward, if an NQS resource receives a commitment, the IESO continues -- as I understand it, is continuing to guarantee that that NQS resource will recover all of its costs, energy costs, start-up costs, speed no-load costs, cost to MLP, costs for MRT, to the extent that those costs are not recovered through market revenues associated with that commitment.  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  If the start and associated market revenues associated with that commitment exceed the market revenues that are necessary for the NQS resource to recover all of its costs, does that surplus accrue to the benefit of the NQS resource?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, Mr. Zacher, can you repeat which one was larger than which?

MR. ZACHER:  I will try.  So, if an NQS resource receives a commitment and as a result it starts and operates and it earns market revenues, to the extent that the market revenues it earns exceed its total costs, does that excess accrue to the benefit of the NQS resource?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it does.

MR. ZACHER:  So, to the extent that represents profit or net revenue, that would continue to accrue to the benefit of the NQS resource?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.  The intent of the program is not to eliminate that profit incentive for starting up, just to ensure that they are able to be returned to a profit-neutral position if they cannot earn sufficient revenue in the market.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I am happy to continue, but I note -- I think we had an 11 a.m. break, and this would be an appropriate place to break if that's --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  I was going to ask you when you wanted to take a break; it was getting close to the point.  We will take a break from -- let's see, what we allowed, about 15 minutes.  So let's say 11:20, reconvene.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Please be seated.  Mr. Zacher, you may continue.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu, I think we've sort of completed some of the background, a summary of some of the background evidence, so I'd now like to turn to ask you about what are the principal disagreements between the IESO and the applicants in this case and ask if you can just explain in a plain-language summary why the IESO disagrees.

So, you will appreciate that the NQS generators argue that the MRP amendments will result in reduced commitments for NQS generators, in large part because they'll be required going forward to compete based on three-part offers in the pre-dispatch process.  Do you understand that's one of the principal allegations?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And does the IESO agree with that assertion?

MR. MATSUGU:  We do not.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Mr. Matsugu, could you explain, provide a summary of the reasons why the IESO disagrees with that assertion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So I guess starting with the total number of commitments that non-quick start resources get, as we noted in our evidence, primarily --


COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Excuse me.

MR. ZACHER:  Oh, I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Mr. Zacher, can I ask you to speak up as well as --


MR. ZACHER:  I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I'm sorry.  I'm having difficulty hearing both of you.  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Please go ahead, Mr. Matsugu.  Is that okay?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Just hold a minute.  I can't get my -- I want to hear the transcript as it's going live here.  Thank you.  You can proceed.  Apologies.  We resolved the technical difficulties here.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, would it help if I repeated my question?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Yes, please.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So, Mr. Matsugu, you appreciate that one of the principal assertions that the NQS generators are making in this case is that the MRP amendments will result in reduced commitments, in large part because going forward they'll have to compete based on three-part offers in the pre-dispatch process, whereas today they're not required to do that.  You understand that to be one of their main complaints?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And does the IESO agree with that assertion?

MR. MATSUGU:  We do not.

MR. ZACHER:  Could you explain to the Panel, in summary, the reasons why the IESO disagrees?

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  So I think where I was going to start was just noting that, under the current market, NQS generators get commitments in both the day-ahead and the pre-dispatch time frame, and they will continue to do so under the renewed market.

So, I believe the information that we cited in our evidence is that currently the majority of those starts happen in the day-ahead time frame, so already we're talking about a portion of the commitments that non-quick start resources get.

MR. ZACHER:  Approximately how many are already participating in the day-ahead time frame, so the day-ahead commitment process?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe, for 2024, we noted two-thirds of those commitments happened at -- are received in day-ahead, and I guess that would mean that one-third of them then received commitments in pre-dispatch.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, even for that one-third of commitments that are received pre-dispatch, only some of them are ultimately really in question about whether or not they will be inefficient.  So, for that further subset, really, I believe that the point of disagreement is:  What are those -- what will those commitments be replaced by?

So, based upon my knowledge of the current market design, market participant behaviour, about system operations, that the IESO asserts that it is likely that those commitments would be replaced by the scheduling of non-quick start resources, and so --


MR. ZACHER:  Do you mean other non-quick start resources?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, that's correct.  That, to the extent a specific non-quick start resource no longer gets a commitment, that, instead, that would be replaced by a different non-quick start resource that could be scheduled.

And so, really, I think I wanted to speak just a little bit more about it because I know there is some conversation about competition and other competing peak resources.  And so, as far as resources that compete to be able to meet peak demand, which is typically during those highest-priced, highest-demand hours of the day, really, the types of resources that colloquially we talk about are things like our gas fleet, so our combined cycles; our simple-cycle generation, of which we have a very limited number of megawatts from those types of facilities; peaking hydro; and imports, when offered, from other jurisdictions.

And so while they're -- I think colloquially we talk about those resources compete to be able to meet our peak demand.  I think it's actually really important for me to kind of describe the nature of how those types of resources get scheduled within the market, and I think the most important and relevant one here is really about peaking hydro, so I do want to describe that a little bit.

So, peaking hydro typically is an energy-eliminated resource, which means that they only have so many megawatt-hours of energy available to that facility over the course of a day.  And their goal is to try to schedule their resource as much as possible during those highest-priced hours, to be able to get the most from what their output is.

The pricing strategy for any of those types of resources is really based upon opportunity cost.  What I mean by that is they're going to try to make sure they get scheduled not during the low-priced hours but during the high-priced hours.  And, typically, a way to be able to do that is to try to anticipate or predict where they think those highest-priced hours are going to be and then offer slightly below there in order to make sure that they get scheduled in those hours.

And, for the most part, those resources are pretty good at being able to do that.  Now, obviously, in any given day, they may guess wrong, and certainly they're not perfect at it.  But, over many months, many years, over time overall, they're actually pretty good at it, which means that there actually isn't a whole lot of incremental energy available from those types of resources after they've gotten [audio dropout] for it.

Because of course the question at hand here is:  If a non-quick start resource that got a commitment no longer gets a commitment, what is the next incremental energy available that's available on the system?  And so, to the extent that those peaking hydro resources are already fully scheduled for energy in reserve, in practice, there is not very much other incremental supply above and beyond that to be able to use, to be able to replace what that commitment is.

So, again, based upon my understanding of what the market, market participant behaviour, what we've seen as far as the actual operation of the system, we believe that, over the duration of what we're talking about, to the extent that there is a commitment that would no longer occur, one of those inefficient commitments, the next place that the system would look to be able to use to be able to replace that supply would be from another non-quick start resource.

The observation that we made in response to reviewing the Power Advisory analysis is that there is no recognition or acknowledgement or attempt to be able to account for what would replace a non-quick start generator that lost a -- we thought that this was material, that this would have a material impact on what the net number of commitments being identified is and that's the basis for that point of disagreement.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And just to clarify, when you talk about to the extent one NQS resource were not to be committed but it was to be replaced by another NQS resource, is that just a function of how competitive and efficient the various NQS resources are?

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  So, to the extent that in a -- as a result of the different competitive characteristics associated with those two resources that to assess the net impact to non-quick start generators, one would need to take into account both the commitment that didn't occur and the commitment that a more efficient non-quick start resource that could have been used or would have been used to replace it.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So, Mr. Matsugu, another assertion that the NQS Group makes in its application and in its evidence is that because in part of the alleged reduced commitments, that the MRP amendments will cause financial -- adverse financial impact to the NQS resource group.  Do you agree with that?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, do I agree that that's what they said?

MR. ZACHER:  So, first of all, you understand that's an allegation that's made?

MR. MATSUGU:  I understand that's the allegation.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And does the IESO agree with that?

MR. MATSUGU:  We do not.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And so, once again, can you explain in summary the reasons for the IESO's disagreement?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So, I guess the starting point for that is, for the reasons that I just articulated, we just disagree with the starting premise that there will be less commitments.  But even if one were to accept that position, the analysis provided by Power Advisory to identify the financial impact, there are some claims that inaccurately identify really what the magnitude of that financial impact, and specifically there are a number of places where there is a conflating of the impact to gross revenues or market payments received by the participant and implying that those financial impacts result in lower net profits.  And I think that this is an important point that we've tried to make, that there is a big difference between lower payments received versus what the net profits associated with that operation are.  So, that is one specific aspect that we had a lot of comments on.

I think there is probably another point that there seems to be the potential for a little bit of confusion, and I think even from hearing some of the discussion prior to us appearing here.  I think specifically there is the potential for some confusion between improvements to market efficiency and a market participant being worse off.  That's -- those two things are not necessarily the same.  And, in fact, are actually very different concepts.

And if it would be helpful for the Panel, I believe in a response to Board Staff, I tried to use a simplified kind of example to be able to articulate that concept.  And if it's all right, I would like to attempt to try and use that contrived example.  To be clear, I'm not trying to put an equivalency of this example with, you know, the circumstances for the non-quick start resources, but just to help illustrate the difference between efficiency versus the impacts, if that's all right.

So, the example I'll use is, Mr. Zacher, if I was to ask you to go downstairs and get me a coffee and I would say, okay, I will pay you back for that coffee and I learned this morning it's $3.  So if I send you downstairs to go and get me a coffee and you bring me back a coffee and I pay you that $3, you know, you don't make any profit from it, but, you know, that's the transaction that we have.  If we say tomorrow I found out that -- you know, I ask you guys to go and get me a coffee and Mr. Duffy lets me know that he has got a frequent buyer membership or whatever, some club card that manages to get that same coffee for $2.50 as opposed to $3, I would say, okay, great.  Mr. Duffy, can you please go and get me that coffee that I would rather pay $2.50 rather than $3?  That would be, from my perspective, a more efficient of being able to meet my needs, which is this coffee.  I would have saved $0.50.

But in both of those situations -- so, I only need one coffee.  Mr. Zacher, I wouldn't need you to buy me any coffee anymore.  You're not going to be worse off because failing me to buy a coffee anymore.  You weren't making money on that transaction, so you're indifferent.  And Mr. Duffy would be able to secure that coffee, and also not make any profit from it.


So, again, I'm not trying to make an equivalency with the, you know, non-quick start situation, but this is an example where you can have an improvement to the efficiency in the outcome without necessarily any of those, in this case the suppliers, being worse off.

And so I think this is a really important part about when we talk about the efficiencies that market -- the Market Renewal Program is going to derive for Ontario ratepayers, they do not necessarily come at the expense of the participants.  That in the instance we are using a more efficient utilization of those resource, that there can be savings to ratepayers that do not necessarily correlate to resources being worse off.

So, I hope that was helpful to be able to make this important distinction between changes to -- improvements to market efficiency and adverse financial impact.

I think the other point, maybe just returning to this confusion between net profits and -- sorry, the impact to revenues and net profits.

So under the current market, if a non-quick start resource got a commitment, and for the purposes of this let's say they got a commitment in pre-dispatch, so eligible for a real-time GCG payment, they would operate.  And, again, for the purpose of this, they would operate.  Their costs exceed what their market revenues are.  They receive a guarantee.  The Ontario ratepayer returns them back to a zero operating profit.  They don't lose money as a result of that commitment.

Let's compare and contrast that to a future with MRP.  Let's say, again, still focusing on that specific non-quick start generator, that if that specific non-quick start generator in the future no longer gets a commitment because they are uneconomic because of, you know, the relative competitiveness of other facility, they no longer get a commitment, they no longer get market revenues, they also don't incur any costs because they are no longer incurring costs from operating.  Their operating profit in that situation from not running is also zero.

So, the important distinction here is that under both the current and the future market, the operating profit associated with that resource is zero, but they do get different payments from the market:  In the first one, because they got some market revenues and the Generator Cost Guarantee payment is clear.  They get less money from the market, but the profits that they earn as a result of that commitment are the same, whether or not that they've run or not.

And that's a really material aspect that seems to be conflated within the Power Advisory analysis, that there isn't a distinction between the impact to net profits or net revenues versus market payments or revenues from the market.  And so, that's the basic premise for the reason why we disagree with the assertions that have been put forward.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.  Let me ask you one just follow-up question.  Mr. Nusbaum had referred to the fact that the principle and the purpose of the cost guarantee program today and going forward is the same, that is, to ensure that NQS generators that are committed recover all of their costs to the extent those costs are not fully covered through market revenues.

Do you recall him saying that?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  However, he said that today there are market revenues that NQS generators receive that are associated with a commitment that are above MLP, above their minimum loading point or beyond their minimum runtime; that is, to the extent they run above their minimum loading point and beyond their minimum runtime, that are not applied against the cost guarantee.  And that that is something that will change going forward and that, going forward, all market revenues that are associated with a commitment will be applied to costs.

Do you understand that?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Could that change have a financial impact on NQS generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  That specific change would have an impact to non-quick start generators.  The failure to account for those revenues associated for what you described is in fact a deficiency that the IESO is aware of and that the Market Surveillance Panel has commented on as pointing as a source of overcompensation for those resources that earn profits that they would not have been able to do but for the commitment that they received.  And that commitment, that cost guarantee, is paid for by the ratepayers of Ontario.

And the Panel's recommendation is that because the ratepayers of Ontario are paying for that commitment, that any revenues associated, earned, that would not be possible without that commitment should be considered in that calculation.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And, Mr. Matsugu, do you have any sense as to how material, if material, that impact would be?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do not.  That is a very difficult thing to be able to estimate.  I don't recall, aside from the OR revenues, where Power Advisory in their analysis identified the materiality of those amounts, either.

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, you are saying that Power Advisory didn't try to estimate that impact either?

MR. MATSUGU:  To the extent that they did, I am unable to discern how that was done.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Thank you. So let me just turn to one final topic, and this has to do with the IESO's introduction of a new ex-ante market power mitigation framework.  And, Mr. Nusbaum, you had indicated that you understood that to also be one of the sources of the NQS Generators' complaints?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I did.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And that they have alleged that they will be unduly burdened or impacted by it relative to, I guess, some other market participants?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is my understanding of their claim.  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So I want to ask you about that, but before doing so perhaps you could again just in simple terms explain some of the fundamental features and design changes associated with the new ex-ante framework.


So perhaps you could just explain to the Panel, first of all, what the rationale is for the change.


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So currently we do have a market power mitigation framework in Ontario.  It is strictly limited to being ex-post, or after the fact.  So we do have that framework.  MRP is not introducing something completely new that is not part of the market, but how we are going to go about doing it in the future is changing fairly significantly.  We are moving from an ex-post assessment in terms of economic withholding to an ex-ante, or before-the-fact approach.

And the reason we are doing that, why that is so important is because in the current market, the potential to exercise market power really only impacts those extra-market payments, those congestion management settlement credits, CMSC, that a market participant would be available for.  It is challenging for a market participant to try to influence the price that the entire uniform market clears at and the schedules that resources receive because we have a two-schedule system.

However, in the future market, when we move to locational marginal pricing and where we are reflecting those transmission constraints, the exercise of market power will have a direct impact on the price and on the scheduling of other resources.

So we are in the legacy market.  Resolving those instances of market power mitigation after the fact, administratively and practically, can be done because you are really just truing up a single market participant and addressing it after the fact.

In the future, when it impacts more than just that market participant, it impacts price and schedules, you want to avoid that before it happens.  So that is why we are moving to an ex-ante framework.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay, thank you.  And can you just again explain at a high level for the Panel what some of the principal features are of the new framework and how it will -- I guess, how it will function.


MR. NUSBAUM:  Sure.  And maybe I should have clarified that there are two parts.  I did say we are moving to an ex-ante framework.  I just wanted to clarify:  We do have an ex-post framework in terms of physical withholding.  That means not making a certain portion of their capability available to the market.  That is still done after the fact.

But in terms of economic withholding or offering in at higher prices than their short-run marginal costs, that is the portion that is moving to ex-ante.  And that ex-ante framework, how it works, you can kind of think of it as a three-part, a three-step process or a three-part test.

So first, the first part is competition needs to be restricted.  We are not going to assess whether or not there was the potential for the exercise of market power unless we see system conditions or market conditions that would lead us to believe that competition is restricted, and those can be either limited transmission or limited supply that would drive those conditions.  So it is only when those conditions exist that we will even start the process.

And then we move on to what is called the conduct and impact test.  So the conduct test looks at did a market participant offer in a way that does not appear to be aligned with their short-run marginal costs?  Did they offer above what we would have expected?  And it is not did they offer slightly above?  There are thresholds that are applied to that, and those thresholds can be 50, a hundred, 300 percent, depending on the specific circumstances that we are looking at.  But you have to have offered materially above the short-run marginal costs as established by what we call reference levels.

And maybe I will hold off on getting into what a reference level is, but that is just a view of what the appropriate short-run marginal cost would be.

So if that conduct test is failed and we do see that a market participant has offered significantly above what we would have expected in that hour, then we go to the impact test.  And that impact test says was the market outcome with that higher offer significantly higher than the market outcome if we were to replace that offer with what we -- what it should have been, based on that reference level?

And if that delta, again, exceeds a material threshold -- again, you know, in that 50 to 100 percent range, generally -- only then would the framework intervene and replace that offer with that reference level.

And so the impact at the end of the day is not a punitive impact on the market participant; it is to return them to the situation that would have prevailed had there been full competition, and they would have been subject to the rigour of the market but for that lack of competition in that specific part of the province.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And maybe, just to follow up, you talked about when you are assessing market participant conduct in determining whether an offer was materially above what would be expected to have been offered based on their short-run marginal cost, how do you determine that expectation?  And I take it that is the reference level that you were talking about?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's right.  So reference levels are a very important part of the framework, and those are established in consultation with market participants.  The market participant has the ability to propose the number to the IESO that they think is appropriate to represent their short-run marginal costs.  As part of that consultation, we work with the individual proponent back and forth, and, at the end of the day, they submit a number and associated evidence and justification for that number.

The IESO will review that, and we may agree with it, or we may say:  Oh, you know what, these costs are not eligible to be included in your short-run marginal costs; we actually think, instead of X, it should be a slightly lower number, Y.

We will give it back to them, and they can either accept that or they have access to the ability to request an independent third party to come in and review their evidence and give -- did their reference level number that they submitted, was it appropriate or not.

That independent review process, as it's called, the outcome of that is binding upon the IESO except for in very limited circumstances.  So the outcome of that process is that we will have to adopt that value as that reference level.


MR. ZACHER:  So whatever is determined by the third-party referee would be what both parties have to accept?


MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.


MR. ZACHER:  Just to add a nuance here, so, Mr. Nusbaum, I think what you've been talking about today is how the market power mitigation framework applies to what is called financial dispatch data, so, in other words, offers and bids, so it looks at whether offers and bids are in accordance with short-run marginal costs based on reference levels; correct?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Offers, yes.


MR. ZACHER:  Offers, sorry.  But I understand that there are also non-financial dispatch data, so other data that are submitted as part of the offer process that are also subject to the market power mitigation framework.  And, if you could, just explain that briefly.


MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  There are other parameters that would in theory allow a market participant to exercise their market participant, and those generally are as you said; they are non-financial parameters.  They are physical parameters that are intended to represent the physical capability of the equipment.  And those parameters are not subject to that same conduct and impact test.  Instead, they are subject to what we call "validation."

So, again, we look at the parameter and the applicable threshold associated with that and say:  Was the number submitted materially different than the reference level for that non-financial parameter?  And, if that is the case and they have provided the IESO with a number that does not match their reference levels for those parameters, they have to resubmit them.  We reject it.  We don't replace it like we do a financial parameter.  We reject it, and they have to resubmit a more appropriate number.


MR. ZACHER:  Could you give just some examples of what non-financial dispatch data parameters would be that are subject to the market power mitigation framework?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  I think two of the easiest ones, ones we have been discussing all day so far, would be the minimum loading point and the minimum runtime, the physical parameters associated with the resource.


MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And, again, the rationale for requiring that those non-financial parameters be subject to the market power mitigation framework is what?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Again, that they could be exercised to increase market prices to the benefit of the individual market participant.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.  So, coming back to the assertion by the NQS Generators and some of the supporting evidence from Power Advisory, you understand the position is that NQS Generators will be particularly burdened or impacted by the new Market Power Mitigation Framework, specifically the ex-ante Market Power Mitigation Framework.  Do you appreciate that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I do.

MR. ZACHER:  And is that an allegation or assertion that the IESO agrees with?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, it is not.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Can you explain for the Panel, in summary, the reasons why the IESO disagrees.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  I think I will break it down into the two parts, the way you originally framed it --

MR. VELLONE:  Apologies, Commissioners.  There was a text from the court reporter, asking us to pause, so I think that is why the witnesses are pausing.

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, when we resume with the court reporter, I can take you back.  Do you have the transcript up on your screen, as well?

MR. ZACHER:  I don't.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Oh, you don't, no.  I can take you back to where Mr. Nusbaum got cut off mid-sentence.

MR. ZACHER:  That would helpful, thank you.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Actually, in the interests of time, I can repeat it back now.

[Read back]


Does that help?


MR. ZACHER:  Yes, thank you.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I apologize.  On the screen, we have monitors showing -- I saw someone text in the Zoom chat, and it popped up on the screen here, and I think the witness saw it, as well.  That is all I'm relaying.  So, no, I am not chatting with the court reporter.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  No, I didn't want to suggest that.  Did you see a notice on your [audio dropout]?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  It was a Zoom link.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  It is a Zoom link, okay, because I didn't see a notice here.  That's why.  I missed it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Panel, we are advised that the court reporter has a technical issue and has to restart her computer, and they will advise us as soon as they are back up again.  So five minutes?  I don't know if we want --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  So, to repeat, that would be about five minutes or ten minutes?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Five, five.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Do you want to take a 10-minute pause or just wait?  I think we will just wait here for now for about five minutes and see if it is longer before we decide to take a real break.  [Audio dropout] on these witnesses?  And then what do you have planned for after lunch?  Okay.

[Technical pause]


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Zacher, you may continue.  Do you remember where you left off, as indicated?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  Mr. Zlahtic helped me with that, so thank you.  So, Mr. Nusbaum, you had just finished talking about non-financial dispatch data parameters that are subject to the market power mitigation framework, and I am wondering if you could just confirm the rationale for why those are also included as well as offers, in the framework.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  Non-financial parameters are included because they are ways in which market participants can impact market outcomes and out-of-market --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But, before you go too far, let's crack this problem.  We still don't see the transcript working, before we get too far and have to run back again, it is not showing up on our screens.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We are looking into it, Panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Zacher, would  -- or maybe the rest of the people here, would you agree with me:  Break for lunch now?  You said you only had a few questions, anyway.

MR. ZACHER:  We are in your hands.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  And then they will have time to get this done right in testing.  So would that be better, Staff?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I think that is advisable, Commissioner Dodds, because the reporter has advised us that she is having a problem reconnecting.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay, so let's take the time to make sure we get it right, and we will break for lunch at 12:15.  We will be back here at 1:15.  We will come in a little bit early to make sure it is working.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:19 p.m.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Nusbaum, can you just remind what the reason is that non-financial parameters or non-financial dispatch data in Distinction 2 offer data why that is also the subject of the market power mitigation framework?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, there are certain non-financial parameters that have the ability to impact market payments and because of that, we do assess them as part of the MPM framework.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And those would include MLP or minimum run time as an example?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So, I now just want to turn to the assertions that the NQS Generators have made with regards market power mitigation.  You understand that they allege that they will be particularly burdened or impacted by the MPM framework; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And is that contention that the IESO agrees with?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, it is not.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And can you just in brief explain for the Panel the reasons for the IESO's disagreement?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I would say it is on two fronts.  First, the claim that they're being -- it's more impactful to NQS Generators than other resources is not something we would agree with because the framework itself applies to all resource types equally.  That's because the conduct in impact tests are the same for all resources.  So it is there -- it is a specific resource's behaviour and the level of competition that is going to drive whether or not a resource is found to have attempted to exercise market power.

On the other hand there is a also, I understand, a claim that it is more burdensome on them or that they are under more scrutiny, and I would also say that is something we would not agree with and is a mischaracterization on a few fronts.  So first, as we just spoke about, there are parameters, non-financial parameters, that can impact payments and because of that, they are subject to the framework.

And so, to the extent that there are parameters that only apply to NQS Generators, that is because the generation cost guarantee program is only available to those NQS Generators.

Secondly, I would say that a lot of the parameters that I believe they have referenced are very static parameters.  They are not something that should be contentious or that should be changing frequently.  So it's not really something that is burdensome or difficult to manage.  These are the physical capability of the minimum loading point is a well-known parameter that is used daily in our market, so to say that that is a burden from having to ensure that is offered consistently doesn't seem to make sense to us.

And third, I believe part of their argument was in reference to hydro having fewer parameters, and on that I would just say that, again, the principle is if there are parameters that can impact market payments, then they are included.  And the parameters that are applied to hydro resources do not have that ability, and so we do not need to assess them.  So, I think the comparison to hydro is also not very accurate

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Just to clarify.  I mean, I gather there are some parameters that apply to hydro generators that are the subject of market power mitigation framework; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And you said that there are, as I understand it, there are some parameters that apply to hydro generators that are not the subject of the market power mitigation framework and can you just explain what the rationale is for that and, in response to Power Advisory's evidence, why that is not prejudicial?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah, we have introduced certain parameters that only apply to hydro, again, the same way we introduced parameters to apply to NQS, to reflect their unique operational characteristics and how they interact in the market.  And so, for hydro they do have some parameters that help reflect that at times they are required to run, and whether that is for safety, environmental, or whatever reasons, there are circumstances where they are required to run their facility and flow that water.

MR. ZACHER:  And just to stop you, are these parameters that are not subject to market power mitigation?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  So, there is, for example, there is a parameter called minimum daily energy limit and that is a certain amount of energy they absolutely have to produce on a given day.  Again, but for water management, safety, environmental reasons, they have to flow that amount of energy.

And as I was saying before, because those parameters do not give them the ability to impact market payments, if they are saying to the IESO, I need to flow this amount of water, there is no payment associated with that minimum obligation.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, if I may, I just wanted to add to what Mr. Nusbaum said.  The concern about the exercise of market power really has to do with those actions driving up market payments.  And so, the type of situation that Mr. Nusbaum described, and I believe was referenced in the technical conference discussion as the concern, well, they're going to force -- use those parameters to be able to force the market to be able to take that energy.  That -- increasing the amount of energy that the market needs to take from that type of resource would not be a way to put upward pressure on set prices.  In fact, what that would do is actually put downward pressure on market prices by forcing the market to take more.

So, of course, our concern about the mitigation of market power has to do with -- typically this is done by economic or physical withholding, which is like making the market take less of it, and so the relevance of -- no.  The application of the concern about addressing the exercise of market power isn't relevant for these types of parameters.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu.  That's the conclusion of our direct examination and the Panel is available for --


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Zacher.  Before we bring up the next witnesses for -- or the examination by NQS, can I take a bit of a break to get my computer working?  I can't see the transcript on my monitor here.  Thank you very much.  Problem solved here now.

Mr. Vellone.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Vellone

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Matsugu, Mr. Nusbaum.  Perhaps to begin my questioning, I would like to start with this last exchange that you had with Mr. Zacher because it's fresh, and live, and top of your head.  And I think one of the things you were trying to convey to the Panel of Commissioners was that from a market power perspective, you were primarily concerned with physical or economic withholding.  And as a consequence, when you look at the impact test, you are concerned with prices going up; is that a fair synopsis of that exchange you had with Mr. Zacher?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, the exercise of market power has to do with putting upward pressure on what those market payments are.  That is the concern that the market power mitigation framework is intended to address.  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Are you familiar with a different exercise of market power known as predatory pricing?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am.  I want to -- I am.

MR. VELLONE:  Why don't you explain it for the benefit of those in the room that are not familiar with that concept?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, I guess my question is in the context of what -- what it is that you're referring to here?

MR. VELLONE:  Let's get the concept out there first, I think, if you are able to explain at a high level what predatory pricing is from a market power perspective?

MR. MATSUGU:  So I think the application that is trying to be asserted here is that as a result of being able to take advantage of -- I believe the word that was used was "dumping" that power into the market, that somehow that would put that participant in a position where they could financially advantage from grabbing a larger market share, so to speak.

MR. VELLONE:  And if there were economists in the room, they would probably attempt to explain predatory pricing as offering less than your marginal cost with the effect of excluding other competitors?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the application of what we are talking about in the context of these constraints, though, aren't reflective about a marginal cost associated with the production and, in fact, are related to regulatory or safety requirements put upon the hydro resources for reasons of environmental safety.  I don't know if everybody recalls, but -- I don't have the dates offhand, but there was a loss of life in Ontario as a result of the spill associated from a hydro facility.

The hydro facilities have some pretty strict restrictions about the way that they manage water on their waterways with respect to environmental, so things like fish spawning, things like tourism, to be able to manage water levels.  And so the characteristics associated with the application of these types of things, about this idea about them taking -- them having to maintain certain minimum levels of output I would say, while that concept of predatory pricing is an economic concept, that is not what we are talking about here when we talk about the idea that these facilities have to move the water and generate electricity.

In fact, it may not be economic for them but for the fact that they have these obligations.

MR. VELLONE:  You are getting a bit ahead of me.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  And I just want to make sure the transcript is clear.  Is my understanding of the concept of predatory pricing correct?  Is it simply offering less than your marginal cost in a circumstance where there is market power so as to exclude competition?  Is the concept accurate, as far as you know?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  Mr. Vellone, the specific part that I wanted you to -- I would ask you to repeat is what is the price that they are -- you are purporting that they would price below?

MR. VELLONE:  Their marginal cost.

MR. MATSUGU:  Their marginal cost.  Okay.  If I recall correctly, that has more -- predatory pricing is more pricing below what their competitors are, not necessarily -- it could be, but not necessarily, relative to their marginal cost.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I mean, I will take that as your understanding of the concept and move on, and perhaps other witnesses can clarify.

Am I correct in understanding that the current market power mitigation framework as proposed does not attempt to address predatory pricing behaviour.  Am I correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  I will move on.  Now my tablet has gone asleep, the problem with not doing things with paper, like my friend, Mr. Zacher.

Could we start with -- there is a line in your reply evidence, we talked about it during the technical conference, around the IESO's assertion that competition will be primarily as a result of competition as between groups of NQS generators.  And I think you spoke a little bit about that this morning.

Do you recall that exchange you had with Mr. Zacher?

MR. MATSUGU:  I recall the exchange.  Is there a specific part in the evidence that you want me to refer to that you may have a question on?

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding from your discussion with Mr. Zacher this morning is the IESO agrees that hydroelectric resources, you called it peaking hydro, does currently compete with NQS generators in the market.  Did I catch that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.  And then I went on to describe how we observe those resources competing.

MR. VELLONE:  And I believe when you did that, you mentioned opportunity-cost hydro and you explained how that resource competes on that basis.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I tried to, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And I think you arrived at a conclusion that was in effect -- tell me if I got this wrong -- we currently take advantage of the majority of our peaking hydro, and that is why you were arriving at the conclusion that competition will be largely within the NQS Group.  Did I get that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I don't recall if I said "take advantage of," but what I mean is that we currently do a very good job of scheduling the availability for those resources for energy and reserves.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And I believe you also said imports compete with NQS generation; is that a fair understanding?

MR. MATSUGU:  We do have import offers in the market.  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Do you arrive at the same conclusion about imports?  Are we currently taking advantage of all available imports, and therefore competition will primarily be in the NQS Group?

MR. MATSUGU:  So we certainly schedule quite a bit of imports from neighbouring jurisdictions that we have -- that offer competitively -- or sorry, relatively cost comparatively, into our market.  So primarily, when we import, we import from Quebec and that we frequently use most, if not all, of that intertie capability when they offer it into our market.

We do have physical capability of imports with other jurisdictions, but typically the imports from those other jurisdictions -- typically, that flow of power doesn't flow into Ontario from those other jurisdictions, but actually flows the other way because Ontario -- our market prices are significantly lower than those in the other jurisdictions.

MR. VELLONE:  Does that mean that historically, at least, Ontario has been a net exporter of energy as opposed to a net importer?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct.  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  So that would suggest to me at least there is room for more imports in the future?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, again, based upon what in historical practice has been, is that the competitiveness of those energy offers from say, the U.S., are significantly higher and that in that way, they're not really in the same ballpark as the peaking hydro and the non-quick starts.  Given that the marginal resources in those other jurisdictions are much less efficient resources, like simple cycles, import offers from those jurisdictions would probably be closer in line with that type of supply.

MR. VELLONE:  Are you trying to suggest that imports will never compete against NQS generators?  You're not going that far.

MR. MATSUGU:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm not going to -- I'll move on to the next one.

One resource type that can compete with NQS resources, that you didn't mention this morning, is storage.  And I'm thinking in particular battery storage, but it could be any form of storage.

MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm, okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you agree that that's true, that storage resources can compete with NQS generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  I would say that the analysis that we commented on was a historical analysis.  And so, if you're talking about things like battery storage, about a future potential one, I think that's a different question.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Could battery storage facilities compete with NQS generators for dispatching?

MR. MATSUGU:  Storage resources could compete as a peaking resource or at least the injection part of it as a peaking resource in the future.  I don't know to what degree because, obviously, we have a lot of things that are changing over the next couple of years on both the supply and demand side.

I think the other important part is, similar to how I described the way that a hydro resource will try to make the most of the energy that it has available to itself, similarly, a storage resource that wants to act as a profit-maximizing resource is going to really try to do the same thing, which is try to ascertain what the highest-priced hours over the course of a day are so that it can get the most from the energy that it can reinject.  And a successful strategy would be to take a similar approach to storage, which is to offer in just below what they believe that on-peak price is going to be and try to get themselves scheduled.

MR. VELLONE:  And you called that an "opportunity cost-pricing strategy" with the peaking hydro.  Is that what you would call it for storage, as well?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, because it's not about the production costs associated; it is, if you're going to injection that energy, you want to get the most value, the most market revenue, from it.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.

MR. MATSUGU:  That differs, then, from the non-quick start resource that is formulating its basis on production costs.

MR. VELLONE:  I notice that you were being very careful in your answers when I was asking about storage resources.  Is that because there is limited experience with storage, battery storage, resources in Ontario today, relatively limited experience?

MR. MATSUGU:  I don't know if I would say I'm being careful.  I am trying to make sure I listen to the question that you're asking and respond thoughtfully and correctly.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll restate the question.  Does Ontario currently have a relatively limited experience with battery storage facilities participating in the wholesale market, yes or no?

MR. MATSUGU:  That would be correct, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Is it reasonable to expect, with the procurements that the IESO has already run and the procurements that it is planning to run, that we may see an influx of additional battery-storage resources participating in the wholesale market in the future?

MR. MATSUGU:  I suppose it's possible.  Again, my comments to what I think you're asking me about is our response to the Power Advisory evidence, and so, again, our assertion about the likelihood of being replaced by a non-quick start resource is not in the context of what will happen in the future.  There are a lot of things that are going to happen in the future.  You would certainly note that we have the potential of adding a whole bunch of supply.  At the same time, we're going to have some significant changes, say, with our nuclear fleet.  At the same time, demand, I'm sure you have read, is projected to increase significantly.

So I'm not in a position nor have I attempted to try to project what the future outcome as far as the competitiveness or the utilization of those assets, be it storage or any other future, of resource type in the future.  All I have simply said is, based upon the historical analysis that was done, on the basis of history, that what was available, that it is likely to be replaced by another non-quick start resource.

MR. VELLONE:  Am I correct that 3 gigawatts of storage has already been procured through the expedited LT, RFP, and LT1?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry.  I wouldn't be able to confirm that.  I'm not involved in the procurements.

MR. VELLONE:  Could you undertake to check, please?

MR. ZACHER:  It doesn't seem difficult, but, Mr. Vellone, isn't that publicly available?

MR. VELLONE:  It is.  I'm trying to get a fact witness just to confirm a fact for me.  He doesn't remember.  That's fine, so undertake to look.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, perhaps on a break, since you've got a fair bit of time allotted for cross-examination, you could confirm and then you could bring it back and put it to Mr. Matsugu if you think it's helpful.

MR. VELLONE:  I believe I know the number.  It's 3 gigawatts.  I think, Mr. Matsugu, if he wants to confirm during a break and we can avoid the undertaking, we can do that.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Okay.  You know, I just -- if that's not correct, we'll let you know.  We'll check.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We're making this an undertaking, J1.2.

MR. VELLONE:  Please.
UNDERTAKING J1.2:  IESO TO CONFIRM WHETHER 3 GIGAWATTS OF STORAGE HAS ALREADY BEEN PROCURED THROUGH THE EXPEDITED LT, RFP, AND LT1

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I would like to move now to an exchange we had during the technical conference around -- I started with the executive summary of your report.  I think you have five concerns with the Power Advisory evidence.  The first one is kind of a list of similarities between the two markets, the current market, post-MRP market.  Do you recall that exchange that we had during the technical conference?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to see if I can be a little bit crisper, and I'm going to ask for an indulgence because I'm going to stick to my script very tightly here to make sure I don't misspeak when I'm asking my questions, just to make sure that we are on the same page in terms of what's the same and it's what's changed.  Some of this has been covered by my friend, Mr. Zacher, in his discovery this morning, so I'm hoping that most of this is not controversial and we can get through it relatively quickly.  That's my hope.

I would like to start with the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, which in our contention can be profitable for generators, not revenue-neutral.  That's our contention.  You don't have to agree with that.  To start with, I would like to look at the revenue and cost envelopes that are used in today's Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program.  For the purposes of calculating an RT-GCG payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for costs include the incremental costs associated with a unit's MGBRT, minimum run time period.  For megawatts up to their minimum loading point?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it does.

MR. VELLONE:  For the purposes of calculating the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for costs include pre-approved start-up costs?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  For an eligible commitment and if the resource follows their dispatch, then yes, it does include those costs.

MR. VELLONE:  For the purposes of calculating a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for revenue include energy revenues, that being charge code 100, for a unit's MGBRT period for megawatts up to their minimum loading point?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it does.

MR. VELLONE:  For the purposes of calculating a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment, if the revenues considered in the settlement equation are less than costs, will an RT-GCG payment be made?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. VELLONE:  Absolutely.  That's why I'm sticking to my script.

For the purposes of calculating an RT-GCG payment, if the revenues considered in the settlement equation are less than the costs, will an RT-GCG payment be made?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  Again, to the extent it was an eligible commitment and they met their dispatch and were dispatched to at least their minimum loading point for the minimum run time, then that is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And when an RT-GCG payment is made, it will equal the difference between the costs considered by the settlement equation and the revenues; would you agree?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's how it works in the current market.  I would just note, I don't believe in your example so far that you have referenced CMSC payments, Congestion Management Settlement Credit payments, and those would be considered on that side.

MR. VELLONE:  I did not reference CMSC payments, you're correct.

Would you agree that the net effect of the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment is to render the generation unit revenue-neutral for a portion of their operations that is considered currently in the RT-GCG program?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry again.  Can you repeat the question?  I want to make sure I understand.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, absolutely.  Is the net effect of the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment to render a unit revenue-neutral for the portion of operations that are considered by the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I would say that in today's market that is the outcome, but not necessarily -- I wouldn't necessarily agree that that is the intent of the program.

MR. VELLONE:  Apologies.  Can you clarify your response for me, just help me understand?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I believe you asked was the net effect to return them to a revenue-neutral position for the costs considered under the current version of the program.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And I think, yes, mathematically that is what the current situation results in.  But, as we've stated earlier today and as the MSP has noted, that is not achieving the program's objective of fully returning them to a cost-neutral position.

MR. VELLONE:  And that's because for -- is that because, in your view, for the purposes of calculating the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment, the settlement equation does not account for costs and revenues above a unit's minimum loading point currently?

MR. NUSBAUM:  [audio dropout]


MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, I can do that.  Is that because in your view for the purposes of calculating a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment, the settlement equation does not currently account for costs and revenues above a unit's minimum loading point?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Partially.  So, yes, and it also does not account for revenue beyond its minimum run time as well as operating reserve revenue.

MR. VELLONE:  So, provided a unit was offering its incremental energy offers at its marginal cost, if it were dispatched above its minimum loading point, would you expect the revenues associated with that dispatch would, at a minimum, cover those costs?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  Can you explain your -- the logic about why you would come to that conclusion?

MR. VELLONE:  I am asking if a unit is offering incremental energy offers at its marginal cost and it is dispatched above its minimum loading point, that you would expect, at a minimum, the revenues earned from the market would cover those marginal costs that got dispatched?

MR. MATSUGU:  Do you mean specifically for the incremental energy above the minimum loading point that got scheduled?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, correct.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think taking into account Congestion Management Settlement Credits which may or may not be in that, I believe that that would be the case.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And in some circumstances, the market revenue would actually exceed those marginal costs; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  For that incremental energy, yes, that's possible, yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  So it would be possible for dispatches above the minimum loading points to be profitable in some cases; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, Mr. Vellone, I want to make sure I'm -- when you say "profitable" do you mean solely for that -- like, in isolation, just the -- just that energy portion, not profitable in the sense of that whole commitment?  Because the rest of that commitment would have been unprofitable and when you put -- jam those two things together, it may or may not have been profitable or not profitable.

MR. VELLONE:  I was focused exclusively on the portion of the commitment above the minimum loading point.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.  That is helpful, because I think in various different places --

MR. VELLONE:  Happy to be clear.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- the assertion about, you know, something is economic or not economic is unclear sometimes.

MR. VELLONE:  I want to see if I can skip a whole page of questions here.

Can we arrive at the same type of conclusion to the extent a unit is dispatched for more than its MGBRT?  Could it be profitable in the market on that portion, as well?

MR. MATSUGU:  So this is a situation that after the unit received a commitment and followed that dispatch instruction, and there is the cost guarantee associated with that, and so they are held whole for that commitment. This is the period after that.

MR. VELLONE:  It is a period of time after that?

MR. MATSUGU:  A period of time after --

MR. VELLONE:  MGBRT?

MR. MATSUGU:  -- the resource was brought online through the commitment?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  And can we arrive at roughly the same conclusion?  Is it possible to be profitable in the market currently for the period of time after MGBRT?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  I think we would agree.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  I knocked about a page off.

For the purposes of calculating a Real-Time Generation Cost Guarantee payment, does the settlement equation currently account for the cost or revenues of any operating reserve services provided?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  Provided a unit was offering its operating reserve at its marginal cost, including opportunity cost, if it were scheduled to provide that service, would you expect that the revenues associated with that schedule would at a minimum cover those costs?

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, do you mean just for the costs associated with providing that operating reserve and not for the start-up costs, or be able to get that unit in that position?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, yes, we would expect that in the scheduling of that operating reserve, they should be able to at least recover the cost of providing that operating reserve.

MR. VELLONE:  And in some circumstances, actually, the market revenues may actually exceed those costs and there could be a profit?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  Actually, it is possible that the only reason why that unit got a commitment was because we needed them to be able to provide an operating reserve.  And so the reason why they were -- that they would be making a profit associated with that is because our system actually was not efficient to be -- we needed that resource to be able to provide the operating reserve necessary in order to meet our reliability requirements.  So in fact, in that situation, that reflects what that underlying need for that ancillary service is.

And, in fact, that situation would highlight that the reason why they would be making a profit on that operating reserve very well could have been because we actually didn't need them for energy, but we needed them for reserve, specifically.

So I think this comes back to potentially -- or back to the Panel recommendation of/associated with, you know, the linkage between any of those revenues associated with, you know, what they get from it with why they were brought on in the first place.

So I think that is a great example where, you know, if they are making money as a result of providing an operating reserve, we get starts, we get commitments because we needed that operating reserve.

MR. VELLONE:  I think that was a "yes", with a very good explanation to follow.

So I think, given what we just talked about here, for a unit committed via the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, there are particular aspects of its run being energy produced above its minimum loading point, being operating for hours more than its MGBRT, and being operating reserve revenue that aren't currently accounted for in the calculation of the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is.

MR. VELLONE:  And those aspects of the generator's run can, in fact, be profitable for the generator.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Hypothetically, yes, they could.

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, I would note, in isolation from the commitment that put them in that position in the first place.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  Say that part again, just so I can follow?

MR. MATSUGU:  Profitable in isolation from any of the profit position that put the generator in that position to be able to earn those revenues.  You can only generate above MLP once you get to -- sorry, you can only generate above the minimum loading point once you get to the minimum loading point, but you can only get to, after the minimum runtime, once you have run for the minimum runtime.

So the profitability associated with those activities in the specific aspect of your question is, yes, they would be profitable.  But it is difficult to take it in isolation for the profitability associated with the commitment itself that got them in that position.

MR. VELLONE:  And if we look at the aspects of the generator's run that are accounted for in the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program settlement calculation up to minimum loading point, or for MGBRT, and those elements result in a net loss to the generator, currently a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment is made.  Correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And in your view, is the net effect of that payment to render the unit revenue-neutral for the portion of operations covered by the RT-GCG program?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. NUSBAUM:  So I believe we may have answered this question earlier.  If I understand the question -- and maybe I will have you repeat it, actually, before I give the rest of my response.

MR. VELLONE:  I will repeat it.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  In your view, the net effect of the payment under the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program is to render the unit revenue-neutral for that portion of operations that is covered by the RT-GCG program.  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So I will say again that that is the mathematical outcome of considering only the revenues and costs associated with that, the way the current settlement formulas work.  But again, I would say that is not in our view returning them to a revenue-neutral position if you are not looking at that broader envelope of potential revenues.  And I believe that is that point that has been made a few times now.

MR. VELLONE:  So is what you are saying a unit can receive a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payment and yet still be profitable once you are considering all of their costs and revenue over the entirety of the run?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, that could happen.

MR. MATSUGU:  That can happen now and would continue to be the case, that, in the absence of losing money, if it was unprofitable, if they were making a profit now, that even for that minimum loading point, minimum runtime, if they made a profit above that as a result of meeting that commitment, they are able to keep that profit because they have exceeded the need for a cost guarantee and they will continue to be able to so in the future market, as well.

MR. VELLONE:  But, if they don't exceed -- sorry.  I will get to the renewed market, and maybe let's sever it, just because I do want to --


MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  [Audio dropout] it.  I'm going to go through the exact same chain with the renewed market and make sure everyone understands it.  So if you're okay parking that for now?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  You're okay?  If there are aspects of a generator's run that are not currently accounted for in the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee settlement equation, that are profitable, would you agree that, in consideration of the entirety of the cost and revenues associated with that run, the run would be profitable?

MR. MATSUGU:  Do you mean "profitable" in the sense that the generator would get more than what their costs are or in fact, in the entirety from an economic sense that is not in fact a profitable operation?

MR. VELLONE:  The question I'm asking when I say "profitable" is in consideration of all costs as well as all market revenues earned, including the RT-GCG payment.

MR. MATSUGU:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  I would say that the settlement calculation would produce a profitable outcome for the generator, but, in fact, when you look at the costs and benefits received to the market from that commitment, it's actually not profitable.

And so this is really the concern that the Panel has identified, is that it is rewarding the resource like it is profitable, but, in fact, when you take into account the total costs and total revenues associated with the schedule, the whole run of that resource, it's actually not profitable.

MR. VELLONE:  Are you able to provide us with a sense of what proportion of Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee runs are in fact profitable for a generator?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  I don't have that statistic offhand, but my recollection is that the majority of them are not profitable.

MR. VELLONE:  When you are doing a casting back and doing your recollection, how are you arriving at that conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  On the basis of the significance of the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee payments that we provide and the frequency that we do so.

MR. VELLONE:  But in our exchange this morning, this afternoon I guess, we've established that it is possible to run a profitable run even when there is a RT-GCG payment; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  It is, and I think in that instance, Mr. Vellone, we wouldn't be providing a Generator Cost Guarantee payment in that instance because one wouldn't be needed.  So, if we weren't heavily reliant upon those Generator Cost Guarantees to be able to figure the commitments, I'm not sure we would be having this conversation because the profits associated with those commitments would be consistently above what was needed to be able to recover load costs.

MR. VELLONE:  I am struggling with that response.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Because I think it is quite different from the exchange that we've gone through over the last hour or so.

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry.  Perhaps I misunderstood your question.  I understood your question to mean that, for the MLB -- "MLB," that's, I invented it; I'm sorry, I invented a new acronym -- for the minimum loading point, minimum runtime portion, what proportion of those were profitable.

MR. VELLONE:  That is not my question.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  I misunderstood.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you have a sense of what proportion of all Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee runs, including those portions of the runs that are above the minimum loading point beyond MGBRT, incorporating operating revenue, operating reserve revenue into the equation?

Do you have a sense of what percentage of those are in fact profitable?

MR. MATSUGU:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  So Mr. Zacher, I believe, asked me this morning about:  Do I have a sense of what the net profits associated with those amounts above minimum loading point and after MGBRT.  And I said I do not.  So I was answering from the perspective of what I do know is that the majority of commitments that we currently get just from the minimum loading point, minimum runtime portion, require frequent and significant payments.

So that is what I know, but I don't know, if you stacked in the additional amounts for the above-minimum loading point and after minimum runtime, how many of those would turn out to be that the profitability associated with that portion would exceed the Generator Cost Guarantee payments that we paid on the amount, on the minimum loading point, minimum runtime portion.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  That was the answer I was expecting.  Thank you for --


MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry.  I may have misunderstood your question.

MR. VELLONE:  No, that's okay.  So I think we have established that the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, as it exists today, is not necessarily revenue-neutral but could in fact result in profitability to generators participating in that program.

What I would like to explore now is:  Did that change at all when the IESO changed the RT-GCG program to use pre-approved costs?

So the question I -- sorry.  I'll ask the question so that it's tight.  I just wanted to give you the theme that I was leaning into here.

Is the profit earned on schedules above minimum loading point, after MGBRT, and in the operating reserve market in any way impacted by the introduction of pre-approve [audio dropout] into the RT-GCG program?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the introduction of the pre-approved costs as opposed to after-the-fact submission was intended to better align actual costs incurred by the generator associated with that start-up were as opposed to inflated costs that were submitted after the fact by generators that misrepresented the start-up costs that they actually incurred associated with that start.

So that change from the after-the-fact submission with audit to the pre-approved start-up costs was triggered as a result of audit findings that found that generators when -- basically, we said, tell us what your start-up costs were and we will pay you back for them.  Those audit findings found that 200 -- sorry, I can't remember exactly the number, but if I recall around $200 million worth of inappropriate payments that those generators claimed that were associated with start-up costs that were not actually start-up costs.

And so, the change was meant to say, well, if we're not going to rely upon you to just submit it, we're going to use a pre-approved value for a reasonable estimate of what those start-up costs are.

So, if what you're asking me is as a result of moving from that regime that was being exploited by some of those generators and you want to count that as a reduction in net profit where we are now paying them a reasonable representation of what that start-up cost is, I suppose, if that's how you would characterize a reduction in profit, I suppose that --

MR. VELLONE:  But again -- sorry, that's not my question.  Let's -- I'm going to try to restate it.  And just listen.

The generators in this proceeding are not challenging the introduction of pre-approved values.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  We have not.  We are not.  We are not litigating that.  We accept that at some point in time in the history of our province, the IESO moved from not using pre-approved values to using pre-approved values.  What I would -- what I wanted to ask you was:  Did that change on its own impact what we discussed earlier about the ability of an NQS generator to earn profit on schedules above its minimum loading point, beyond its MGBRT, or in the operating reserve markets?  Yes or no, did it change it or not?

MR. MATSUGU:  It did not change that portion of it.  What it changed was the cost guarantee payment for the amounts up to minimum loading point and for the min-run time.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Could we move now to the guarantee payments post-MRP?  And I believe there are two that are relevant.  It's the Day-Ahead Generator Offer Guarantee and the Real-Time Generator Offer Guarantee program; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  Those are the two programs that are currently replacing the day-ahead production cost guarantee and the real-time cost generator guarantee.

MR. VELLONE:  Would it be fair to say that those guarantee programs are more likely to be revenue-neutral from an all-in costs perspective?

MR. NUSBAUM:  The intent of the payments through those generator offer guarantees is to return a market participant to a revenue-neutral position.  And by taking all of the applicable revenues associated with a start into account, it should achieve that objective.


MR. MATSUGU:  I guess what I would add, though, is in the scheduling of that resource that's taking into account the full costs and the full benefit to the system, that does not preclude that resource from being scheduled in a way that is actually profitable.


MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Now I'm going to go through a bit of the same components I did with the RT-GCG program.  For the purposes of calculating a generator offer guarantee payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for costs include start-up costs and speed-no-load costs, as submitted through three-part offers?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  And for the purposes of calculating that payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for costs include incremental energy costs associated with all of the unit's schedule, including above the minimum loading point and including beyond MG-BRT?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  And for the purposes of calculating that payment, does the portion of the settlement equation that accounts for revenue include energy revenues associated -- sorry.  I just did that one.  Sorry.  I got it.


Oh, it is revenues.  The settlement equation account for revenues include energy revenues associated with all of the unit's schedule including above MLP and beyond MG-BRT?  We did costs.  Now we're doing revenues.


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  And for the purpose of calculating that GOG payment, does the settlement equation account for operating reserve?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Is it fair to say that the GOG settlement equations, whether real-time or day-ahead, account for a broader envelope of costs and revenues, as compared to the existing Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program?


MR. NUSBAUM:  I think, yes, that is true.  And the underlying change that aligns with that is the optimization is now also taking into account all of the system benefits and associated costs in making the initial commitment decision.


MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, including the amounts above the minimum loading point and after the minimum run time and any operating reserve that's scheduled.


MR. VELLONE:  And is it fair to say that the generator offer guarantee settlement equation accounts for all the costs and all the revenues associated with that unit's run?


MR. NUSBAUM:  From the market, yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Including the OR market; right?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.


MR. VELLONE:  And for the purposes of calculating generator offer guarantee payments, if the revenues considered in the settlement equation are less than the costs, then a GOG payment will be made; is that correct?


MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.


MR. VELLONE:  And would you agree that when that GOG payment is made, that that run is revenue-neutral insofar as its total costs and revenues are equal?


MR. MATSUGU:  Not necessarily.  Again --


MR. VELLONE:  Please continue.


MR. MATSUGU:  -- the guarantee payment, if one was -- if one was necessary would return them to it, but does not mean that necessarily that if they follow that schedule that they will not be making a profit.


MR. VELLONE:  If they're receiving a GOG payment --


MR. MATSUGU:  Oh yes, okay.


MR. VELLONE:  So, let me ask the question again and then you can -- would you agree that if a GOG payment is made, that a run is revenue-neutral insofar as its total costs and revenues are equal?


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Because the payment is made?


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Do the Day-Ahead Generator Offer Guarantee program and the Real-Time Generator Offer Guarantee program operate substantively on the same terms in terms of the costs and the revenues that they account for when GOG payments are made?


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Do you have a sense of what proportion of day-ahead market and real-time unit commitments runs will be revenue-neutral in the future?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. NUSBAUM:  Can I get you to repeat the question, please?


MR. VELLONE:  Absolutely.  Do you have a sense of what proportion of day-ahead market and an Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment committed runs will be revenue-neutral in the future?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.  I would say we don't have the ability to forecast that.

MR. VELLONE:  I believe I saw a quote at one point where there was a suggestion that you expected most to be revenue-neutral.  Maybe I am misremembering.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So can you refer to me --


MR. VELLONE:  I tried to find it before the hearing today, so it's not a big point to get hung up on, if you can't recall.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Okay.  I am going to attempt to do a little bit of a synopsis here and compare the financial outcomes under today's Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, on the one hand, and financial outcomes for NQS generators under the new day-ahead generator offer guarantee, Real-Time Generator Offer Guarantee program based on what we have gone through this morning -- today.

So in the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, an NQS resource does not need to offer start-up costs in their energy offers to ensure that they can be made whole on their schedule.  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I would just clarify that they must have a binding commitment.  They don't put in three-part offers but, to ensure they are kept whole, they have to have an eligible commitment.

MR. VELLONE:  But, following the Market Renewal Program, NQS resources will need to include start-up costs in their energy offers to ensure that they can cover their costs under the GOG program in a schedule.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  The inclusion of those start-up costs is so that the optimization and the market can select the correct resource on a least-cost basis.  That is the purpose of asking them to submit those start-up costs to us.

MR. VELLONE:  But they are required to do those start-up costs as part of their three-part offer to be eligible for those GOG payments?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.  But the reason why we want them to submit that start-up cost is because we are trying to do a least-cost optimization.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And again, I would just add, those are a precondition but not sufficient; to be eligible, they have to have a commitment.

MR. VELLONE:  Under the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, for an NQS resource to receive a schedule, they don't actually need to be economic for their entire MGBRT.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And under the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, the cost envelope currently only includes up to the minimum loading point and beyond MGBRT.  Correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  You are referencing in relation to the calculation of the Generator Cost Guarantee payment?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Which means currently a generator could earn profit above its minimum loading point and beyond its MGBRT without affecting the current Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program payment.  Correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Similarly, a generator could earn profits through its operating reserve revenues, which is not included in the settlement envelope for their current Real-Time Generation Cost Guarantee program.  Correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  I am going to move from the cost guarantee programs to another area of inquiry.  And, specifically, it relates to the NQS Generators' claim that, with this change in MRP, they lose multiple commitment opportunities.  So I just want to broadcast the line, where the line of questioning is going.

Post-MRP, does the IESO expect that most commitments will be made through the day-ahead market?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  We expect to schedule and commit the majority of supply to meet the next day's need through the day-ahead market.

MR. VELLONE:  And in that case, opportunities to get committed in pre-dispatch through the ERUC process will be limited?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, what do you mean, "opportunities," Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  The probability of getting dispatched or committed in pre-dispatch via the ERUC process will be less, post-MRP, than it was in the PD process prior to MRP?

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  So the need to commit a resource in between the day-ahead time frame and the real-time time frame under the renewed market will be driven by what are the difference in system conditions between what the IESO anticipated in day-ahead and what is actually manifesting itself, come real time.

So the IESO -- the whole intent of this day-ahead market is to actually have the best possible picture that aligns with what we believe the system is going to look like tomorrow.  Obviously, things change as a result of that.  You know, we may have higher-than-expected demand or we may have lower-than-expected supply, there may be transmission or other outages on the system.  And the intent of that pre-dispatch process is to be able to then give the IESO and the market the opportunity to be able to respond to what those changes on the system are.

That is materially different than our current market, where the IESO doesn't have a particularly robust view in that day-ahead process right now.  And, as we have noted, there is actually quite a bit of information that is different between what we see in day-ahead, come pre-dispatch.

So the opportunity in the future market really is driven by to what extent has the system changed.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  And in addition to all of that, you actually expect, post-MRP, that exports will also participate in the day-ahead market.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Exports are one of those examples where, by having a financially binding day-ahead price, that they will have the certainty about what it is -- what price that they will pay in the event that they get scheduled.  That is something that they don't have right now, so they run the risk of, well, if I clear in our day-ahead schedule, they have no idea what price they are going to end up paying.  So naturally, they are adverse to wanting to get a day-ahead schedule.

MR. VELLONE:  And so as a consequence, you expect that -- would you say it is fair to say that, post-MRP, you would expect that the majority of eventual real-time demand will be represented in the day-ahead market?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is what we would like to see happen.

MR. VELLONE:  And opportunities to receive commitments in real time will largely be limited to changes in demand forecast, changes in generation forecast, perhaps from intermittent generation as an example, or generator outages.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's right, that any incremental commitment would be because there is a change in system conditions that merited, on an economic basis, the need to be able to schedule an additional resource.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Just to add to that, there is also the potential that during pre-dispatch an existing commitment made in the day-ahead market is expanded or added to.  So increasing the schedule that was received a day ahead, that opportunity will also exist in pre-dispatch.

MR. VELLONE:  I have a similar question, I guess, building on exactly that, which is:  In the case of forecast error, at least, is it possible that there could actually be that we could see a reduction in demand at real-time, resulting in no new real-time commitment opportunities in certain hours?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, was your question that, if demand falls, that may result in no incremental commitments?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, at real-time.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I think we covered this during the technical conference, so I'm going to go through it pretty quickly.  In today's market, exports do not for the most part participate in the day-ahead commitment process; correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's generally correct, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And, to the extent they do participate in that market, it's fair to say that they largely show up in the pre-dispatch time frame, following the day-ahead commitment process run?

MR. MATSUGU:  If they want to get scheduled in real time, they will have to participate in the day-ahead process -- I'm sorry.  I misspoke there.  It has been a long day.

They will have to participate in the pre-dispatch process in order to get scheduled and then eventually get checked out, so ahead of real-time to actually get scheduled in real-time.

MR. VELLONE:  And, to the extent that exports arrive in the pre-dispatch process, that incremental demand would need to be served by additional supply that was not committed or scheduled through the day-ahead commitment process; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Holding everything else constant on the system, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And some of that supply could come from NQS generators committed through the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you agree that the lack of export participation in the current day-ahead commitment process makes it easier for an NQS generator to receive a commitment via the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm not sure what you mean by "easier."

MR. VELLONE:  It would increase the probability they could receive [audio dropout]


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you elaborate on the "easier" a little bit more?  That's the part I'm just struggling with.  I want to make sure I don't attempt to answer the wrong question.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  I'll restate the question, and then I'll attempt to unpack what I mean by "easier" so that I'm as clear as I can be.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you agree that the lack of export participation in the current day-ahead commitment process makes it easier -- park that -- for an NQS generator to receive a commitment via the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program?

And, when I say "easier," they have a higher opportunity to do so, a higher probability of receiving that.

MR. NUSBAUM:  What is the comparison against?  Is it the future market?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, now I'm really confused, higher probability of getting a commitment --


MR. VELLONE:  In real-time.

MR. MATSUGU:  In real-time.  What does that have to do with the future market?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going there eventually.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay, so, yes --


MR. VELLONE:  But I'm not there yet.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay, so that's why I got confused, because, in the context of the current market, the absence of having exports in the current market means that they have to get a -- that, if exports were to be associated with it, it would necessarily be in the pre-dispatch time frame.

So I'm not -- I'm trying to figure out what the "easier" is relative to, like what easier means; is there a relative state there.

MR. VELLONE:  What I'm trying to get to is that, because exports don't participate in the day-ahead commitment process, there is more unserved demand following day-ahead today; post MRP, those exports will be scheduled in the day-ahead market, resulting in less unserved demand after day-ahead.

That is what I'm trying --


MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, but you said "post MRP" now, so now -- I'm sorry, I'm very confused now because I thought you just wanted to ask me about in the current.

MR. VELLONE:  You asked "easier" relative to what.  I'm trying to give you that.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  I'm really sorry, Mr. Vellone.  Your instruction to me was focused on the current market, so I'm having trouble in the "easier" comparison what the -- with or without in the current market that you're talking about.  I'm genuinely not trying to be difficult.  I'm hearing two slightly different questions.

MR. VELLONE:  Let's attempt to start fresh --


MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- if you're okay with that.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Park what we talked about.  I'm going to try to do a pre-/post-MRP comparison.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Because exports don't participate in the day-ahead commitment process today, there is currently more unserved demand following day-ahead; whereas, post MRP, those exports will likely be scheduled in the day-ahead market, resulting in, all else being equal, less unserved demand after day-ahead.

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.  That is consistent with what I was trying to articulate as:  The IESO is trying to get the best picture of what we expect to see in real-time, in the day-ahead time frame, under the future market.

MR. VELLONE:  And would you agree that, to the extent that there is less unserved demand available to be committed in real-time post MRP, there will also be less of an opportunity for NQS generators to be committed in pre-dispatch or real-time post MRP?

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  So I think I bring you back to my previous answer, is:  The intended purpose of moving to that day-ahead market is to be able to make sure that pre-dispatch commitments only need to happen as a result of a change in system conditions between day-ahead and the real-time.

MR. VELLONE:  So you agree that there is, all else being equal, a lower opportunity for NQS resources to get committed in the pre-dispatch process post MRP?

MR. MATSUGU:  The objective is to be able to get a better alignment of the dispatch of resources in the day-ahead time frame, that we do not currently do right now, and do a better job of it in the pre-dispatch for any imbalances.

MR. VELLONE:  So I'm trying to move beyond objective to actual impact of the changes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay, sorry, so let me complete that thought.  If we are successful in doing that, that would necessarily result in the need for fewer commitments to happen in pre-dispatch.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Post -- do you need a break?  I mean, I'm noticing [audio dropout] conscious.

MR. MATSUGU:  I don't know what the next block of questions are or how long.  I don't actually know what time it is.

MR. VELLONE:  I think we had scheduled it for 3:00, and we came back 15 minutes early, so I am just checking in with the witness.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Are you suggesting that we take a break now?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm at a natural inflection point in the questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  We can go another 10 minutes.  Are you --


MR. MATSUGU:  I'm okay if we go a little bit longer.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Vellone, I'll let you pick the time for the break, next 10 minutes or so, depending on your questioning.

MR. VELLONE:  This questioning is going to take longer.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Then perhaps we should take our break now.  We'll take a 10-minute break or 15-minute break.  Yes, we'll take a 15-minute break and be back here at five after 3:00.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:07 p.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Is it working now? Okay.  Thank you very much.  We will start again for the record.

The Panel has reached a decision on the outstanding item from NQS motion for information regarding refusal JT1.1 from the technical conference.  The other matters raised in the NQS motion were addressed in Decision and Procedural Order No. 4 which was issued late yesterday.
Oral Decision

The Panel has considered the submissions made this morning by the NQS Generator Group and by the IESO.  The OEB has decided to grant the request in part and directs the IESO to provide the information from the public stakeholder presentation in or about 2019 which provides some explanation on how the various MRP benefits were calculated.  According to the IESO, the stakeholder presentation included a telecast or webcast recording, a PowerPoint presentation, and associated documents.  Mr. Zacher indicated that the link to the IESO web page with this information is no longer working but said that could be cured.  The OEB is directing the IESO to restore the web page link where the requested information is located and make that available by the end of today or, if the web page cannot be restored, then IESO shall provide the documents and other information that were located at the web page, again, by the end of the day.  Is that satisfactory about the time?

MR. ZACHER:  I believe it is, yes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Mr. Vellone, you may continue with your cross-examination of the witnesses.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Vellone (cont’d.)


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Dodds.  I would like to start my next line of questioning by making reference to a document that my friend, Mr. Boyle, circulated yesterday in advance of the hearing that we had -- and indicated we had intended to make reference to it during this proceeding.  It is a set of discovery response questions filed by the IESO in EB-2020-0230.  Could I get that marked as an exhibit, assuming there is no objections?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So that will be Exhibit K1.1.

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, just getting that marked for identification purposes at this stage?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT K1.1:  SET OF DISCOVERY RESPONSE QUESTIONS FILED BY THE IESO IN EB-2020-0230.

MR. VELLONE:  I would like to ask that the exhibit be pulled up on the screen.  And I would like to go to the discovery question Environmental Defence, number 10.  I'll give you a moment to look at that.  Citing a preamble from the Brattle benefits case.  Let me know when you're ready to scroll down.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And my specific question relates to part (b):
"Other things being equal, will MRP increase or decrease the non-emitting resources as a proportion of Ontario's electricity supply?"

Do you see that question there?  And please estimate the proportion on a best-efforts basis?  Let's scroll down to the response to part (b).  Do you agree that the IESO's position is that, all else being equal, it is expected that the Market Renewal Program will help to increase non-emitting resources as a proportion of Ontario's electricity supply?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, first of all, I just want to note that I was able to review this last night.  I was not involved in the preparation of these responses or having reviewed these interrogatories in the past.  So I think you're asking something that I'm kind of reviewing almost in real-time.  I guess the other note that I would have is I believe these interrogatories are in reference to a Brattle report from 2017 that I -- obviously, being a Brattle report I also am not the author of.  That said,
I -- upon receiving these last night did go to our website and do a brief read of that report.  So I will try and be as helpful as possible, but just noting that I can't speak with certainty to the, you know, certainly the responses here and just based upon kind of my understanding from refreshing my memory from the report that Brattle prepared eight years ago.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  I think my question might be more basic than that.  All I'm asking is, Mr. Matsugu --

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  -- do you agree with the statement that we see in the first sentence there:
"All other things being equal, it is expected that MRP will help to increase non-emitting resources as a proportion of Ontario's electricity supply."

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, I meant to get to that answer.  So, I think the very first part is about the second sentence in, which is about, you know, the difficulty of the proportion -- and I believe the context that -- again, having read that benefits report, I believe the context in which that that conclusion on the, all things being equal, is important to be able to answer that question.  Because if I understand correctly, this was in response to -- or this conclusion was on the basis of improving the ability to efficiently address instances of surplus base load generation.

So, maybe for the benefit of the Panel, surplus base load generation was a big issue in the Ontario system really starting in the early 2010s, where as a result of both the -- you know, an economic recession but also the addition of significant amounts of supply on the system that we frequently found times that we had more energy, particularly during off-peak periods, than we could actually consume within the province.  And so, during those times that the IESO found itself having to often curtail wind, hydro or, in more extreme cases, having to dispatch down nuclear plants to be able to make sure we were not operating in a way where supply exceeded what the demand on the system was.  And so, if I read that Brattle report correctly, in the context to which the statement I think is being attributed, to is being able to say, well, to the extent that the IESO is better able to manage those surplus base-load conditions, to be able to better manage those conditions and align demand with hopefully being able to avoid the need to curtail or spill those resources, that that would result in being able to use those resources more.  And again, I think this is where the concept of everything else held equal was in.  There is a whole bunch of other things that are going to happen within the market, and a whole bunch of other changes, but in isolation, just that concept, that we would be able to use more of those resources during those off-peak surplus hours.

Now, if you are unfamiliar with the concept of surplus base load generation, that is because actually our supply picture has changed considerably since then.  In fact, you know, as we have talked about, demand is increasing, and we are looking to be able to get more supply in the system.  And the context for that and the issue that this is in relation to I think is important.

So I guess my answer to this is to the extent that we are talking about surplus base load conditions and nothing else changing in the market, the ability to schedule exports in the day-ahead time frame and then potentially be able to use the resources to be able to meet that higher market demand, that sounds about right.

MR. VELLONE:  And to the extent there is an increase in non-emitting resources as a proportion of Ontario's electricity supply, is the corollary true?  There is a decrease in emitting resources?

MR. MATSUGU:  No.  I think as we talked about, you know, any changes in the supply side need to take into account what the changes on the demand side are.

MR. VELLONE:  All else being equal, same assumption that starts that, all else being equal.

MR. MATSUGU:  So to the extent that we have an imbalance between base load supply resources and our off-peak demand, in what way do you mean how would non-quick start resources be impacted?

MR. VELLONE:  I had understood your response to say in the context in which this question was answered -- and I think you walked us through that --


MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VELLONE:  -- surplus base load, spill, conditions, things like that, curtailment of wind and solar, the response stands as written in that context, which is MRP will increase non-emitting resources as a proportion of Ontario's electricity supply.

And I asked you simply:  Does the corollary to that mean, other things being equal in the same set of caveats that you gave the Panel, doesn't that mean that emitting resources will go down?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am not sure why that would be the case.

MR. VELLONE:  It says "a proportion."

MR. MATSUGU:  What it says is the proportion change is difficult.

MR. VELLONE:  The calculation of the percentage is difficult.  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.

MR. VELLONE:  But it will go up, increase non-emitting resources.  There has been an increase; is the corollary of that a decrease in emitting resources?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think that proportion changed and the all things else being equal thing, is a bit of the confusing part of this, which is to say that outside of those periods of base load generation, so all else being -- all other things being equal, as saying let's assume that nothing else changes outside of those periods where we have surplus base load generation in the management of those resources.

So necessarily, if you increase the amount of generation that we can accept from base load resource, that that proportion on a -- you are not changing the denominator, but is that a reasonable assumption to say nothing else is going to change on the system?  Probably not.

So I think this is just trying to say, mathematically, if you increase the amount of energy that you didn't spill during those off-peak periods, all that means is you have accepted more and, you know, in that description, we are talking about -- we have talked about base load resources.  Unless you would consider a non-quick start resource to be a competing as a base load facility with those resources, it is not clear to me why that would necessarily be true.

MR. VELLONE:  I think I am going to move on.  I have attempted this three times; I am going to move on.

I am focused in this next line of questioning on the impacts of the Market Renewal Program on non-quick start generators specifically as it relates to our assertion that those NQS resources will likely receive fewer commitments, post-MRP.  I just wanted to make sure I broadcast what [audio dropout] questioning for everyone who is listening.

Under the Market Renewal Program, to the extent an NQS generator receives a commitment, that will be either through the day-ahead market process or the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment process.  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.  It will either be through the day-ahead market or through pre-dispatch.

MR. VELLONE:  And when participating in the day-ahead market or the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment process, NQS generators have an option to submit three-part offers, mapping to start-up costs, speed no-load costs, and incremental energy costs.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And, in a competitive market, you would expect that an NQS generator would submit the totality of those costs via its three-part offers, regardless of how they chose to allocate those costs as between those three buckets?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, absolutely.  In a competitive market, would you expect an NQS generator to submit the totality of those costs via its three-part offer, regardless of how they chose to allocate those costs as amongst those three buckets?

MR. NUSBAUM:  My hesitancy to respond is I don't want to speculate on a generator's offer strategy.  But, at the highest level, yes, they would -- it would make sense they would ensure that all of their costs are reflected through those three cost categories you referenced.

MR. VELLONE:  And that is a fair qualification and hesitancy that you had.  I tried to give you an out by saying "in a competitive market", and tried to give you an out there.

When the day-ahead market and the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment processes consider whether to commit an NQS resource, are they doing so in consideration of all of those costs communicated as part of a three-part offer?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, they are.

MR. VELLONE:  Which would include start-up costs and speed no-load costs?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And would you agree that, at a high level, the day-ahead market and the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment processes are considering whether the totality of the costs associated with committing an NQS generator is cheaper than the next best alternative?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  Please elaborate.

MR. NUSBAUM:  The optimization is looking at the total value that that resource can provide in terms of energy and operating reserves.  So it is not optimizing based strictly on their costs; it is the combination of the benefit they provide the system and those costs.

MR. VELLONE:  Does that benefit that you just spoke about take into account start-up costs and speed no-load?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, the optimization would consider that.

MR. VELLONE:  And in that case, you would say an NQS generator is economic; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  The totality of the commitment and the schedule associated with it would have been assessed as the lowest-cost option to meet the anticipated system needs.

MR. VELLONE:  Which, in John's overly simplified universe, is economic?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is generally the shorthand, I will concede.

MR. VELLONE:  And, to the extent there is a cheaper option available, the NQS resource would not receive a commitment, in which case they could be found to be uneconomic; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to move back to [audio dropout] and, when participating in the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, an NQS generator currently submits its incremental energy offer; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  It does not submit its start-up costs to the market.  Instead, those would be dictated by IESO-pre-approved values as determined via the administrative process established in the market manuals?

MR. NUSBAUM:  In pre-dispatch, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And an NQS generator currently may self-invoke the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee commitment provided it meets the eligibility; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And the period to self-invoke is during any of pre-dispatch minus 3, PD-3, PD-2, or PD-1; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  To self-invoke a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee commitment during the commitment window, the relevant PD shadow price must be greater than the NQS generator's incremental energy offer price for half of its MGBRT; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's not correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Please explain.  What did I get wrong?

MR. MATSUGU:  The test for or the requirements for a resource to qualify for that equipment is it needs to be scheduled for at least its minimum loading point portion for half of its run time.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay, sure.  So I missed that part, for sure.  So I said half of MGBRT, but it also needs to be scheduled for at least its minimum loading point for half; is that right?

And apologies for the acronyms.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, Mr. Vellone.  Could you repeat the original question?  I believe what you said had something to do with economic relative to something.  So could you just repeat that question?  Because that's what I was trying to respond to.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  I did not, and I definitely am happy to repeat it.

To self-invoke a Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee commitment during a commitment window, the relevant pre-dispatch shadow price must be greater than the NQS generator's incremental energy offer price, resulting in a schedule to at least the minimum loading point for half of its MGBRT; is that right?


MR. MATSUGU:  So I think the confusion is that I think that may be a shorthand version of the way people describe what the requirements are.  But that is in fact not what the requirements are.

The requirement is, the requirement in relation to this is, it needs to be economically scheduled in the constrained schedule for a volume that equals to at least its minimum loading point for half of its minimum run time.  The test isn't about relativity, about offer prices relative to pre-dispatch prices; it is the outcome of the constrained schedule.

MR. VELLONE:  That, that's entirely fair, and thank you for correcting me on that; I appreciate it.

But you would agree, that the test is for half of MGBRT, not the whole MGBRT?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.  That's correct.  I guess I would add, Mr. Vellone, just as we were talking about the clarification, again, they may get, the non-quick start generator may get, a schedule for half of its min run time not because of energy; it may have gotten a schedule because of the need for reserves.  So, again, using the pre-dispatch price to be able to use as a proxy of it:  Not always kind of the best way of doing it.

So, just to be technically consistent, if it's economically selected in the constrained schedule for half of its minimum run time -- and I think this is one of the important parts in the analysis that was provided by Power Advisory, that, again, using some of the simplifying about looking at the pre-dispatch.  That's not factually correct about how we schedule that resource.  That's why I want to make sure that it's clear that, while some proxy assessment for that, that is one way of doing it.  That is not strictly speaking what the eligibility criteria is.

MR. VELLONE:  So I just want to make sure I understand the implications of how this is done.  Would that mean that, if an NQS generator had a six-hour minimum run time, six-hour MGBRT, that it would need to be economic for at least three of those hours?  Is that how that works?

MR. NUSBAUM:  To be able to self-invoke a commitment, yes, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And start-up costs are not currently included in the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program eligibility criteria; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct, and again back to that part about the economic, that it would appear to be economic within the pre-dispatch but does not actually consider the costs for the start-up in making that "economic" decision.

MR. VELLONE:  But, currently, start-up costs have no impact on an NQS generator's ability to self-invoke an RT-GCG commitment?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Moving ahead to the MRP universe, is it correct that the day-ahead market as well as the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment process do consider start-up costs when determining whether an NQS generator is economic and will receive a commitment?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  So, with respect to receiving a commitment, would you agree that, if start-up costs are not factored into RT-GCG commitments today but will be factored into day-ahead market and Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitments under MRP, that an NQS generator will, all else being equal, be less competitive under MRP than it was prior?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I want to make two points, I think.

First, you compared the RT-GCG program to both day-ahead and pre-dispatch under MRP.  The first point I want to make for clarity is that our current DACP process and the future day-ahead market will both use start-up costs, speed-no-load offers, that three-part offer, so there is no net change on the day-ahead side.  The really only change I believe we're discussing is between pre-dispatch today versus pre-dispatch tomorrow.

Going back to, I believe, Mr. Matsugu's answer from earlier, I don't think we are in a position to comment on the relative competitiveness of an NQS resource in pre-dispatch today versus tomorrow, again, recognizing that we will be looking to secure the majority of our supply to meet system needs in the day-ahead timeframe.  And it's -- only will be during pre-dispatch where we will be seeking to true up based on any changes based on the conditions that set day-ahead schedule.

MR. VELLONE:  So, I take your first point of clarification.  I don't think I got a yes or a no to my question so I'm going to attempt to put it to you again and I'm going to try to fix it on the fly here to address what you said.

If start-up costs are not factored into the RT-GCG commitment today but is factored into ERUC commitments under MRP, would an NQS generator not, all else being equal, be perceived as less competitive following MRP just simply because it has more costs that need to be recovered through the market?

MR. MATSUGU:  The market optimization would perceive them to be more expensive and, by that, less competitive and less likely to be economic.  I'll note, though, that it's not the change to the market that created these new costs, that those costs associated with start-up existed before and after the market and are created because of the change in market design.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you agree with the premise that the start-up costs were the same before and after for a particular unit?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm not sure what the basis for that would be.

MR. VELLONE:  Would it be reasonable to assume that a particular facility's start-up costs would largely be the same before and after MRP?  It's a facility-specific parameter; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  What their actual costs would be?

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, I don't think there's anything about that market design that changes the physical efficiency of that resource that would create the costs associated from getting from -- from being offline synchronized to be able to get to the minimum loading point that changes the engineering parameters that then incur that cost.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  If that's the case, then, in fact, it is simply the change in the market design post-MRP that renders the unit less competitive; is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, the change in market design didn't change what the actual cost -- the actual cost of getting that resource from zero to MLP.  So, not -- I'm not sure I agree with the -- I guess where you're going is that it's the market that's making it more competitive.  It's the fact that the market has better visibility to those costs that are changing what that potential outcome is, in fact, better aligns with what the actual costs are.

MR. VELLONE:  I will guarantee I wouldn't be here with this application if the market made my clients more competitive.  They --


MR. MATSUGU:  No, I wasn't suggesting that.  What I was suggesting about is the characterization about being competitive.  So just to be clear, the market is not increasing the cost.  It doesn't make the actual costs of starting up that resource more expensive.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, I think we established that.  The only thing that is changing here is the market algorithm and when assessing the competitiveness of resources in that market prior to MRP start-up costs were not included.  After MRP for ERUC start-up costs are included for the real-time portion.  And I'm simply trying to ask, from the perspective of the algorithm that is used to optimize the market, are NQS generators perceived as less competitive in the future than they are today?

MR. NUSBAUM:  The optimization will have a better picture of all of the costs and will take that into account when deciding whether to schedule them.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And that could in theory lead to changes in their -- in whether or not they receive that commitment.

MR. MATSUGU:  I suppose by that same -- if that's how you want to characterize it then I guess that would also increase the competitiveness of a other non-quick start resource that had a better start-up cost.  So, I guess by that measure, you know, there would be an increase in competitiveness and a decrease in competitiveness relative.

But again, I'm not sure I would characterize that as a degree of competitiveness as a market.  The costs were what the costs were before and after.  The ability for the market to better consider those costs for the relatively inefficient unit and to the benefit of a more efficient unit, I'm -- and I think I'm just stuck on the characterization that is changing the competitiveness.  If what you're looking for is as a result of this optimization it's less likely a more -- sorry, let me be sure I get this right.  It is more likely that a less-efficient unit will be scheduled and that a better -- a more-efficient unit will get scheduled -- do I have that right?  Oh, I got that backwards.  Let me try that again.

That under the new market that we are more likely to schedule a more-efficient unit and less likely to schedule a less-efficient unit, that would be the outcome.

MR. VELLONE:  And I'm going to ask one final question and then move on.  You agree with me that as a class, one of the unique features of NQS generators is that they -- as a class they have the start-up costs?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm not sure.  What do you mean by "class"?

MR. VELLONE:  I think at the beginning of the examination-in-chief that my friend, Mr. Zacher, took you through -- you went through distinguishing unique elements of NQS generators and I believe start-up costs were one of those distinguishing features; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And other resource types that may compete with NQS generators, be it storage, peaking hydro, imports, do not have the start-up costs; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay, thank you.  Under the Market Renewal Program, when the day-ahead market and the Enhanced Real-Time Unit Commitment process consider whether to commit an NQS generator, they are doing so in consideration of the incremental energy costs associated with all of its scheduled energy generation; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  And the operating reserve offers as well.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And to say that differently, to the extent an NQS generator is committed, all of its incremental energy costs associated with the schedule were ultimately considered in that decision?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's a true statement.

MR. VELLONE:  So, given that today the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program eligibility requirement requires that an NQS generator's incremental energy offers are economic only for half of its minimum run time, the economics of incremental energy offers for the remainder of its minimum run time are not relevant to invoke, self-invoke, a commitment; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I will point you back to the clarification that I made just as far as being economically scheduled for half of its minimum runtime with MLP, but --


MR. VELLONE:  That's all right.  Yes, yes -- understood.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- with that caveat that, yes, they would not have to be economically scheduled for the other half of their minimum runtime.

MR. VELLONE:  With respect to receiving a commitment, if only half of the minimum runtime incremental energy costs are factored into a Real-Time Generation Cost Guarantee commitment decision, but all incremental energy costs are factored into ERUC commitments under MRP, would an NQS generator not, all else being equal, once again be perceived by the optimization algorithm less competitive, post-MRP, because it has again more costs it needs to recover through the market?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  I am actually not sure.  I think part of this also has -- so certainly, there is a difference on their start-up cost.  But it is the interdependency with those hours that I am not -- I don't -- I wouldn't want to say categorically, yes or no.

MR. VELLONE:  You are uncertain at best, I guess is what you --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you help me just understand what you are struggling with, where the uncertainty lies?

MR. MATSUGU:  So there are two changes that are relevant as far as, like, the difference between the -- like, as we were talking about this here with the pre-dispatch, there is the -- now we are considering start-up costs.  But then there is also the multi-hour optimization.

And so I think if you weren't doing multi-hour optimization, then I think I could follow along with what you are saying.  But the impact of that multi-hour optimization, I am -- I don't know.

MR. VELLONE:  So you agree that, all else being equal, more incremental costs beyond MGBRT are considered, post-MRP, but you are not sure how that is going to play through in the multi-hour optimization algorithm so as to impact the competitiveness of that resource vis-à-vis others.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MATSUGU:  I understand the mechanics.  I guess what I am not sure is the outcome.  I think that has to do with, I don't know -- in the hours that they were, in fact, economic and received a constrained schedule, I don't know how economic they were.  And in the hours that they are -- they don't receive a constrained schedule, I don't know how uneconomic they were.

And so, because they are -- the future market, as the multi-hour optimization looks at those, it is difficult for me to know when you look at it on balance whether or not they were, on balance, you know, very economic during those hours that they got a schedule or they were just a little bit uneconomic or vice versa.

So again, it is again that relativity is important to be able to know whether or not they would have gotten a commitment or not.  And in the absence of knowing, again, how economic and uneconomic they were for those hours, it is really hard to come to a determination whether or not they would have gotten a start, even when you take into account those start-up costs.

MR. VELLONE:  But you would agree that -- okay.  So I want to take the part that you can't put a pin into and accept that.

You would agree that prior to MRP, the optimization algorithm -- well, you only -- an NQS generator only needs to be economic half of its minimum runtime hours to self-invoke.  And, after MRP, it needs to be economic for all of the hours that it runs?

MR. MATSUGU:  No, I wouldn't characterize that.  When you look at the duration of that commitment as a whole, it needs to be economic.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  That's what I mean by "all of the hours."

MR. MATSUGU:  No, no.  So those are two different things.  So all of the hours would, to me -- and I am sorry if I am misinterpreting.  All the hours would be, each and every one of those hours, they would need to be economic, and that is not what the optimization would do.  What the optimization would do is over the totality of that commitment --


MR. VELLONE:  I'm sorry, we must -- that's what I meant.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Not a discrete hour-by-hour question --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- but in the totality across --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- all of the time -- yeah, okay, we are getting there.  Okay.  Thank you for bearing with me.

Okay.  I think I have what I need on that line of questioning.  Bear with me.  I want to ask a few discrete questions about market power mitigation, and I am hoping to not have to go wading into the evidence if we can avoid it, with really tight questions, hopefully, as you covered it fairly well this morning I think.

Am I correct in my understanding that NQS generation resources will not have opportunity costs considered when establishing their reference levels?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. NUSBAUM:  I believe that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  However, opportunity costs are a relevant consideration for hydroelectric assets when setting their reference levels.  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And is it correct -- this one I am not sure on, so please keep me honest, but is it true that opportunity costs are also relevant for storage assets when they are establishing their reference levels?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And that is because they are energy-limited resources?  Did I get that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  That's all I wanted to do there, is to make sure it is clear.

Could I ask that we turn up the transcript from Day 2?  That is January 10, page 101.  And I am going to give you a moment.  Page 101, and I think I was referencing the printed page, Mr. Boyle.  It is line 22.  It is right down at the bottom, there.

So this is an exchange that Mr. Yauch had with OEB Staff.  And I just want you to start reading around line 22, there.
"This program has been in place for 24 years.  Everyone has known about it.  The IESO has known about it and been told about it.  Everyone invested in this province based on the design of this program, among other reasons."

Okay.  Let me know when you have completed that quote, and we can flip to the next page if you want to just see where Mr. Yauch goes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah, we have read it.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  Do you want to flip to the next page, just to give the witnesses an opportunity to capture the conclusion there?

So I'm not going much past line 2 there, Mr. Nusbaum.  You don't have to keep going if you don't want to, although you can.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry, our hard copy is apparently missing a page.  If you will, just give us one second to read here.

MR. VELLONE:  Please.  This is the next page, so I guess it is 102, and I'm only really looking at lines 1 and 2, but I want to give you the full quote for the benefit.  Let me know when you're done.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you agree with Mr. Yauch's assertion that the Real-Time Generator Cost Guarantee program, as it currently exists or some variant, has been in place for more than 20 years now and is generally understood and known about by NQS resources in the province of Ontario?

MR. MATSUGU:  We've had many different versions of the Generator Cost Guarantee program over the past 20 years or so.

MR. VELLONE:  But some -- sure.  But the program as it existed at that time was generally well understood and known by generators in the province, and that it has changed; is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  So what I would say is that the intent of that program has consistently existed over the past 20 years, that the IESO has always been concerned about, as my colleague Mr. Nusbaum described, in the event that a non-quick start resource is anticipated to be needed to meet system need and system congestions change and they find themselves operating at a loss, that we have always been concerned that, if that continues to happen, the next time we ask them to file a pre-dispatch instruction and have a commitment, that they won't be there.  That would be a very reasonable concern and, from a reliability perspective, something that we're very much interested in avoiding.

The purpose of that has been consistent for the past 20 years, but the way that both the eligibility for determining a relevant -- what the threshold to be able to get a start, sorry, to get a commitment and the financial settlement in the calculation of that has changed dramatically over the past 20 years, in a variety of different ways.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Okay.  I'm going to try to come at this a slightly different way because, clearly, I'm getting caught up trying to go through Mr. Yauch's evidence here.

Would you agree that it is reasonable that, when considering to invest in building a new generation asset in Ontario, it would be reasonable to consider the market design and rules and a forecast of how much net revenue they may expect to earn from selling electricity into the IESO-administered markets in making that investment decision?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe anybody that sets up in any market would like to understand the rules that that market currently operates and that anybody that operates in one of those jurisdictions also would want to do an assessment of how are those potentially to change in the future and how those changes could potentially impact their financial position.

Markets across North America are constantly evolving, and it would be surprising that any individual investor would assume that markets in Ontario or in any jurisdiction would remain the same for a long period of time.  So an investor should take that into account of the -- what are the changes that could happen or even just acknowledge that that is a risk.

MR. VELLONE:  So you're basically saying, to the extent that an investor's forecast of market revenues might be wrong, they might earn more or less net revenue than anticipated; is that what I'm getting?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm not going to try to put myself in the position of what an investor would say.  I'm just saying, if an investor makes a decision on the basis that they think that they are coming to a market that's never going to change, that would be a very risky assumption.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. VELLONE:  To the extent Market Rules change, say, 15 or 20 years after that investment decision was made and they have an impact on net revenues that an investor can make going forward, what would their recourse be?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, we're having trouble hearing.

MR. ZACHER:  I'm just wondering if you can point the mic towards your mouth.

Mr. Chair, I have let Mr. Vellone go on for some period, but this line of questioning about investor risk is really well beyond the scope of what this proceeding is about.  It's about market efficiency, not about questions about who may invest in Ontario and on what basis, et cetera.

MR. VELLONE:  I couldn't disagree with my friend more.  The legal test we have been asked to meet is unjust financial harm or economic discrimination, and that goes directly to an intention to ensure the long-term viability of these electricity markets, to be able to attract new investment in the future without having to discount those investments by a large amount.

So I think it goes straight to the [audio dropout], not something different.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But you do know that would be subject to foundation?  You would have to prove, would you not, to some degree to show how it would hurt the NQS people with respect to investment?

MR. VELLONE:  Absolutely, and I think the Power Advisory evidence does do that, showing $21 million of harm.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But that doesn't go directly to the investors' willingness to invest.  There are so many other factors in there, and you could be examined on that if you raised it, show that it really does hurt investment and how it does hurt investment of your NQS generators.

MR. VELLONE:  I do not intend to call or produce a banker who would be speaking on that broad of a level, if that answers your question.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  To some degree, but you say you are going to subject, yourself, to examination to show how it hurts investment with respect to your companies.  There will be a lot of factors in there, and I'm just wondering if you want to go there.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  If I could just add, Mr. Vellone, I think the difficulty I'm having is you're asking these particular witnesses to speculate on what an investor might or might not take into account, and I guess I think they're in a difficult position because they're not here as investment experts; they're here to talk about their understanding of how the market works currently and how the market works under the amendments.

Again, just to follow up on Commissioner Dodds, how does that tie into what an investor might or might not do?

MR. VELLONE:  That's fair.  I can move on with my line of questioning for this panel.  I do believe that the Power Advisory witnesses may be able to provide more insight into this topic, to the extent they advise investors amongst other clients in their base.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But would the Power Advisory witnesses have that expertise?  They don't know how the companies operate, the individual companies operate, what the parameters are, what the risk assessments are for the people who are investing and lending; there are a large number of factors.  I don't think they would have the answers to those questions.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I mean, just to get back to brass tacks here, the question is whether the amendments are unjustly discriminatory to market participants, so persons participating in the market, not to outside investors.  So it's well beyond the scope of the statutory test and there is no evidence -- even if it was relevant, there is no evidence on this in the Power Advisory report.  So, my friend's suggestion that he is going to start to adduce new evidence from Power Advisory is also beyond the pale.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But there is a point there though that investments could be expansion of your plan.

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.  That's correct, in addition to new plants.

[Hearing Panel confers]

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I believe you did offer, Mr. Vellone, to move on?

MR. VELLONE:  I did and I stand by my offer.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Thank you.  Then please move on.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Can we spend a little bit of time on Congestion Management Settlement Credits, and I don't want to spend too much time on it, but a little bit of time.  Am I correct that in today's market, NQS generators are eligible to receive Congestion Management Settlement Credit payments?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, all resources, generation resources, would be.

MR. VELLONE:  And they do, in fact, receive those payments some of the time?

MR. MATSUGU:  All dispatchable generation resources are eligible, including the non-quick starts.

MR. VELLONE:  And in addition to being eligible, they actually receive them some of the time?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And at a high level, would you agree that Congestion Management Settlement Credit payments are intended to return market participants to the operating profit implied by their unconstrained schedule?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  So by definition, because we're using operating profit as the starting point there, is it correct -- is my assumption correct that CMSC payments may, in fact, be profitable?

MR. MATSUGU:  We also have negative CMSC payments too, so I'm -- so, when you mean "profitable," in what way do you mean?

MR. VELLONE:  Can I try my question again, and see if --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  CMSC payments may be profitable, not will be, may be?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. NUSBAUM:  So, if I'm following the question correctly, I believe you're asking if, after having received a Congestion Management Settlement Credit to return them to a level that they had offered at, would that result in any profit?  And on the assumption that they're offering in their marginal cost, returning them to that offer would not be profitable for them.

MR. VELLONE:  So, that's a constrained on example, I think.  If it was constrained off CMSCs, which compensates for lost operating profit implied by the unconstrained schedule, could they lose out on profitability?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, that's helpful to kind of make the distinction, because I think that was what we were trying to figure out.  So, the CMSC that a constrained off resource would get right now returns them to the operating profit that they would have received but for the -- among many other constraints that are reflected within the constraint schedule includes things like transmission on the system.

MR. VELLONE:  So it could be profitable in that instance?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  Not will, but could?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And am I correct, in IESO vernacular, Congestion Management Settlement Credits are sometimes referred to as make-whole payments; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  In the post-MRP market, there will be make-whole payments that in certain circumstances take the place of Congestion Management Settlement Credits.

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, yes.  CMSC payments get referred to in a whole bunch of different ways.  So sometimes we call them out-of-market payments.  I can understand why somebody may call them a make-whole payment.  I think in our evidence we talk about them as extra-market payments.  I know in other jurisdictions, those types are things are called, like, uplifts and things like that.  So there is, I guess, what I would say is there is a variety of different ways to be able to refer to a CMSC.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Perhaps could we pull up page 15 of the IESO's responding evidence.  15.  And I want to go to the footnote at the bottom of that page I think.  I don't know if you recall this exchange from the technical conference, but I drew your attention to a sentence that's fourth line from the bottom there.
"And while the cost of the make-whole payments will drop dramatically with a single market payment in place, these payments will be limited..."

Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  I do.

MR. VELLONE:  And I think you confirmed for me during the technical conference that in that instance the reference to make-whole payments did mean CMSCs; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And I think if I'm reading this properly, am I correct in understanding that the elimination of Congestion  Management Settlement Credit payments contribute to, and I'm just going to use the words, drop dramatically, dramatic drop, in make-whole payments; am I reading that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, and what's meant by that is instead of having a uniform price along with Congestion Management Settlement Credits that things like congestion and losses will now be reflected within locational marginal prices, which eliminates the need for that two-schedule difference, which is what actually mechanically generates those CMSC payments.

MR. VELLONE:  So NQS generators can receive Congestion Management Settlement Credit payments today, and those payments can be profitable.  I think you agreed?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe your question, when we were getting into it, was specifically constrained-off payments.

And so are you talking about constrained-on CMSC payments, or constrained-off CMSC payments?

MR. VELLONE:  With that question, I was intending to capture all.

MR. MATSUGU:  I see, because a --


MR. VELLONE:  And could be profitable.  I wasn't saying will be.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think this comes back to if it is a constrained-on payment, where their location -- where, as a result of that resource being constrained on, that would be difficult to envision how that would be a profitable opportunity that the --


MR. VELLONE:  Completely fair -- the unconstrained off is different.

MR. MATSUGU:  No, I understand.  So where I was trying to get to is, subject to my recollection, typically for a non-quick start generator we are talking about constrained-on situations.

MR. VELLONE:  Does that mean they cannot be constrained off?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am not saying that they can't.

MR. VELLONE:  Does that mean they are not, in reality?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am not saying that, either.  What I am saying is to the best of my recollection, constrained-off payments, the proportion of constrained-off payments doesn't typically go to non-quick start generators.

MR. VELLONE:  But they get some amount of them?

MR. MATSUGU:  They could.  Typically, where a constrained-off situation -- where we see large amounts of constrained-off generation is in Northern Ontario, where we have a large amount of supply and limited amounts of transmission to be able to, you know, bring that down to Southern Ontario.  That is not typically where the non-quick start generators are located.

So certainly, yes, there is the possibility that, you know, under certain circumstances or whatever, that a non-quick start generator could get a constrained-off CMSC.  But that's certainly not the first thing that I think of when we -- when I think about who is getting a constrained-on versus a constrained-off payment.

MR. VELLONE:  And would you agree with me that the elimination of CMSC payments, including constrained-off payments and that what is called here, the drastic drop in make-whole payments, could result in financial harm to NQS generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am thinking, because I didn't see anyplace in the evidence that Power Advisory put forward that constructed a scenario that would exist.  So I think, again, possibly.

MR. VELLONE:  I will take it.  You mention there are make-whole payments under the Market Renewal Program; there are going to be make-whole payments going forward.  Are any of those analogous?  And when I say analogous, I really mean serving the same function as CMSCs to constrained-off Congestion Management Settlement Credit payments.  Are any analogous to that?

MR. MATSUGU:  In a manner of speaking, but I would guess -- and I think we spoke about this briefly.  So notwithstanding the IESO wanting to be able to use the market to economically select and schedule resources, there may be times that our control room may need to take out-of-market manual auctions to be able to move a resource quickly or, you know, not on the basis of the economics, to be able to preserve reliability.

And when that happens under the current market, that manifests itself in the constrained schedule, because they apply a manual constraint.  And so that the benefit is that we don't need to create a new make-whole payment; that just creates a divergence between the constrained and the unconstrained, but it generates a sufficiency.

In our future market, we don't have that construct, so we actually have to create a new make-whole payment in that instance to be able to account for that.  So those -- again, that's not related to transmission or congestion or those other things, but specifically for, you know, if the control room says we need you to move for reliability.  We know you are going to be financially harmed as a result of it.  We need you to follow this dispatch instruction; you are going to held whole to it.

So, yes, effectively that happens in some ways, but I want to be clear about, like, that is the commonality.

MR. VELLONE:  Not necessarily for exactly the same purpose as, for example, constrained-off CMSCs.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Exactly.  This is really to be able to meet that reliability dispatch.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  And am I correct in my understanding that those constrained-off CMSC payments will effectively be eliminated under the Market Renewal Program?  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, there is no concept of CMSC payments under MRP, which is why we need to create this new make-whole to be able to follow that reliability instruction.

MR. VELLONE:  There is nothing, post-MRP, that will serve the same function as CMSCs do currently to compensate generators for lost implied operating profit, post-MRP, because with your single-schedule market it is not needed.  Correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Under our current market -- under the future market, we will not have two different schedules that the CMSC would need to be able to reconcile.  We have a single-schedule market and that largely aligns price and dispatch and so, therefore, we don't need an additional payment to be able to make up for the fact that if they followed -- to follow that schedule.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  So am I correct that an NQS generator that gets constrained off today would receive a CMSC payment, even though they are not generating?  But that, post-MRP, a generator that is not scheduled under MRP would receive no compensation at all?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe that is the case.  I was just trying to imagine a situation where that actually happens.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  I suppose it's possible.  Again, I'm struggling to -- yes, it could be possible.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And, to the extent that does occur, that's another type of financial harm that arises under MRP; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  To the extent that it occurs.  Again, I was unable to see in the evidence that was put forward about the frequency, materiality, or, quite frankly, even the situations that that would occur.

MR. VELLONE:  But I think you -- I heard you conceptual [audio dropout] you agree with the direction I was going?

MR. MATSUGU:  It is theoretically possible.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm debating whether I ask to end a little bit early today, regroup, review the transcript, and attempt to eliminate duplication from my remaining questions, or if I just continue to plow through and risk a level of duplication.  I'm in your hands.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  I think that would be our choice.  We would still like to finish on schedule on Friday.  Keep that in mind.  But, if you do want to break and regroup, is there any objection from any of the other parties at this stage?  There being none, then we will --


MR. ZACHER:  I apologize, Mr. Chair.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Oh, sorry.

MR. ZACHER:  I apologize, Mr. Chair.  I think our preference would just be to soldier on and make sure that we use up all of the available time.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Yes, I would agree with that.  I would rather soldier on rather than just running out of time on Friday.

So, Mr. Vellone, if you can continue on, then.

MR. VELLONE:  What I am going to propose is:  My colleague Mr. Boyle does have some questions.  We are going to pivot over to do his questions.  I am going to attempt to do an organization exercise.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Okay.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Boyle

MR. BOYLE:  Good afternoon, Mr. Matsugu and Mr. Nusbaum.  I think, at the outset, I just want to say thank you to the Panel for working over Christmas.  I know that it was quite unusual to do that, so I think, from all of us over here, it is just a thank you for that.

So I just have one question.  I know the Panel kind of ruled on your expertise of the expert report.  The only question I wanted to ask is:  When you prepared the expert report, who had the discretion of what to exclude or include from the report?  Was it you two who had that discretion?

MR. DUFFY:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  We're going to object to that question.  They did not prepare an expert report.  If Mr. Boyle wishes to rephrase his question with the evidence that was filed, that would be fine.

MR. BOYLE:  Sorry.  As a fact witness, did you have the ultimate discretion as to what facts went into the report and were left out of the report?

Was that your discretion?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So what I'm going to put to you here are a few statements, and I am just going to ask you whether or not you agree or disagree with the statement.  I'll read it out here:
"Natural gas is a critical component of the province's electricity generation mix to maintain reliability and meet peak electricity demand.  Increased electricity generation through natural gas can help reduce province-wide emissions by supporting cost-effective electrification in other sectors like transportation and heavy entry."

Do you agree with that statement?

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry.  Just to clarify, Mr. Boyle, are you referring to something from the evidence, and, if so, can you draw the witnesses' attention to it?

MR. BOYLE:  I'm just putting a statement before -- so, as part of the assessment of the Board's consideration here, there is a list of purposes in the Electricity Act and whether it's inconsistent with those purposes.  And I'm asking this statement in relation to those purposes and specifically in relation to government policy.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just before the witnesses answer, just help us understand.  What's the source of this statement that you want to put to the witnesses?

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  It is the most recent consultation on natural gas in Ontario that was issued in middle of December there.  So that's where this statement comes from.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I'm trying to understand.  Again, our job here is to look at the Market Rules and understand whether they discriminate unjustly among market participants or are inconsistent with the purpose of the Act, so I'm struggling to understand how this would fit into the scope of what we have to answer in this proceeding because this isn't a gas consultation proceeding.

MR. BOYLE:  No, that's fair.  What I'm specifically looking at under the purposes of the Act -- and I can pull it up quickly here if you would like me to put it in front of you -- is subsection 1(d) of the Electricity Act, and it states:
"The purposes of this Act include the following:  To promote the use of cleaner energy sources and technologies, including alternative energy sources and renewable energy sources in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario."

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Sorry, are you referring to the "purposes" section?

MR. BOYLE:  Correct.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Of the Electricity Act, that's 33.1, and then, your subsection, are you referring to a subsection of that?

MR. BOYLE:  So subsection 1(d) of the Electricity Act.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But I thought, in the technical conference that -- I think SCC asked that question and that you're not providing any evidence to support your claims on that.

Is that correct, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it's more appropriate for my friends to answer that, but I did put the question with respect to the Power Advisory evidence, and they had agreed that, the Power Advisory report, they were not addressing those issues.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, we did ask the Power Advisory to try to write a report that addresses the legal questions that this panel needs to answer.  It was not our intent with the Power Advisory report.  We asked them to do an analysis of economic harm.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  But, once again, I'm not clear.  Do you have evidence to -- I'm not clear what you're trying to achieve here.

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  It's not important.  I can move on from these questions.

So, Mr. Matsugu, I'm not going to talk in any detail about the contracts, themselves, except just for the title of the contracts that these energy -- or these NQS generators operate under.  And it is titled "A Clean Energy Supply Contract"; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Um, I'm not sure what you're talking about.  I don't know what -- so the specific facilities that you're talking about or which procurement that they were engaged on or the title of their contracts, I'm not -- I wouldn't be able to speak to --


MR. BOYLE:  Maybe I'll ask the question directly, then.  You would agree with me that natural gas generation is a cleaner energy source and technology?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Than what?  I'm struggling to understand the question, Mr. Boyle.

MR. BOYLE:  Again, I'm looking at that section of the purposes of the Electricity Act.

MR. ZACHER:  Again, I mean, Mr. Vellone said:  We didn't ask Power Advisory to address a legal question, whether the Market Rule amendments comport with the purposes of the Electricity Act, which is one of the tests under section 33.

And I take that point.  For the same reason, it's not appropriate for Mr. Boyle to put to our witnesses, who are fact witnesses, what is a legal issue.  They can at the end of this case, based on the factual evidence, put together an argument as to whether the Market Rule amendments comport or don't comport with the purposes of the legal, of the Electricity Act, but that is a legal issue and you can't put that to fact witnesses, in the same way as you can't put to them, you know, are the Market Rule amendments unjustly discriminatory?  That is, respectfully, for you as a Panel to decide.  It's the ultimate issue.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  We agree.  Thank you.
MR. BOYLE:  I'll move on.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Please move on.

MR. BOYLE:  Mr. Matsugu, I believe I heard you say this morning that you disagree with the premise that there will be less commitments for non-quick start generators under MRP; was I correct in hearing that?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, I believe you were correct in hearing that.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  I'll just -- I'll bring up something here from the IESO's brief of exhibits that they provided.  So, here -- can you see it up on the screen there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Are you talking about the operational certainty?

MR. BOYLE:  So, what we're looking at is the IESO business case from 2019.  And what I'm looking at there is the second paragraph and along with that is the footnote 7 that talks about:
"Commitment is the process of deciding when and which non-quick start resources should come online in order to maintain reliability and meet demand at lowest overall cost."

And in that sentence there it says:
"ERUC will optimize the system with a look-ahead period of up to 27 hours, rather than the current 1-hour optimization, reducing the number of commitments to the benefit of the IESO, market participants and Ontario consumers."

So, can you help reconcile that statement for me with what we said earlier?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, you'll just have to give me a second to think about this, because I believe, as I talked about with Mr. Vellone, I didn't prepare this report.  So, just give me a second so I can --


MR. BOYLE:  Sure.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- think about what is meant here.

MR. ZACHER:  I apologize, Mr. Boyle, but could you just clarify which document are you looking at?  Which tab in IESO's book of exhibits?

MR. BOYLE:  It's page 707.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MR. BOYLE:  Of the January 6 exhibits.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.  And then can you just scroll down to that footnote, footnote 7.  Okay.  And then, sorry, can you scroll back to the actual paragraph?  So, again, not as the author of that report or this paragraph -- I believe this should say reducing the number of inefficient commitments.

MR. BOYLE:  So -- but when -- what I'm curious about is reducing the number of commitments to the benefit of the IESO.  What does that statement mean or what benefits accrue to the IESO by reduced commitments?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think that's the whole -- that's where I'm getting at is for that to be correct I think what we're looking for "inefficient commitments," because, of course, we wouldn't want to just simply have less energy.

MR. BOYLE:  But I guess the -- so what you're saying is that there will be a reduction in the number of commitments for NQS resources?

MR. MATSUGU:  No.  I think, as I spoke about earlier, the conclusion that I came to -- or, sorry, that we put forward about the availability of other resources wouldn't necessarily result in that outcome.  So I can understand reading this sentence as written why you would -- why a reader could come to that conclusion.  But I believe this should say that, "reducing the number of inefficient commitments."

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  I'll -- so as -- assuming there are lower commitments -- these lower or inefficient commitments, as you call them, the NQS generators would have a lower output; do you agree with that statement?

MR. MATSUGU:  Why would that be true?

MR. BOYLE:  So, do you agree that the NQS generators will have a lower proportion of the electricity in Ontario?  And maybe what I'll do is --


MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, Mr. Boyle, lower than what?

MR. BOYLE:  So, currently and then post-MRP, will NQS generators have a lower proportion of the electricity supply in Ontario?

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, post-MRP as in, like, in the future?  I think for the reasons that I responded earlier, I'm not able to, or try, to predict what the utilization of resources on the system will be.

MR. BOYLE:  Mr. Matsugu, I'd like to turn to your exchange with Mr. Akhter at the technical conference regarding a scenario.  I will pull it up here.  I'm trying to do many things all at once here.  So, the scenario that Mr. Akhter put to you is found in this question here.  So, what was asked was:
"My question here is that assuming that a resource gets, an NQS resource, gets a commitment today in the current market, and not through the day-ahead commitment process, through the pre-dispatch and then they get a Real-Time Generation Cost Guarantee..."

And then we go down:
"And you know it has been implied a couple of times that it might be more generous and it might be covering more than their costs.  So, if the same exact commitment is not made in the day-ahead market -- sorry, through the MRP and the day-ahead market and goes to the real-time market, would it be correct to suggest that, as you are implying here, the new Real-Time Generation Offer Guarantee will not be as generous and that they would be making less net revenue?"

And so, I'll keep scrolling down here.  So, what I'm interested in is at lines 28 through 4 there where you say:
"They would receive less revenue or less net revenue as a result of the cost guarantee payment being calculated in alignment with the conditions that brought on that commitment."

And so, I just wanted to confirm that the NQS generators would see less net revenue?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  I believe as we have spoken about several times today, that the difference between the settlement today and the settlement tomorrow, that currently they -- NQS generators receive net profits that aren't counted against that cost guarantee that are in -- sorry, they receive profits that aren't counted against that cost guarantee, today, that will be in the future.

MR. VELLONE:  We are attempting to pare things back and speed things up to the extent we can.  I have had an opportunity to go through, reorganize my questions.  I have a fairly substantial set of questions that are all linked about the differences between the current day-ahead commitment process and the day-ahead market going forward that I would prefer, and I think would be beneficial, just to do all at once.  So starting 15 minutes now, and then picking up in the morning, will cause an awkward break.

That being said, with the benefit of where I am going and what I am thinking, I am in the Panel's hands.

[Board Panel confers]

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  Mr. Zacher?

MR. ZACHER:  I am also in the Panel's hands, whatever you prefer.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  There are only 10 minutes left, so we will grant that.  We will close for the day.  But just a reminder, though, please try to speed it up to make up time.  Thank you.

MR. BOYLE:  I don't want to get constrained off.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER DODDS:  That ends the session for today.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 4:50 p.m.
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